# Organic & Biomolecular Chemistry

Accepted Manuscript



This is an *Accepted Manuscript*, which has been through the Royal Society of Chemistry peer review process and has been accepted for publication.

Accepted Manuscripts are published online shortly after acceptance, before technical editing, formatting and proof reading. Using this free service, authors can make their results available to the community, in citable form, before we publish the edited article. We will replace this Accepted Manuscript with the edited and formatted Advance Article as soon as it is available.

You can find more information about *Accepted Manuscripts* in the **Information for Authors**.

Please note that technical editing may introduce minor changes to the text and/or graphics, which may alter content. The journal's standard <u>Terms & Conditions</u> and the <u>Ethical guidelines</u> still apply. In no event shall the Royal Society of Chemistry be held responsible for any errors or omissions in this *Accepted Manuscript* or any consequences arising from the use of any information it contains.



www.rsc.org/obc

# Synthetic applications of hypophosphite derivatives in reduction

Carole Guyon, Estelle Métay\*, Florence Popowycz\*, Marc Lemaire

<sup>a</sup>Equipe Catalyse Synthèse Environnement, Institut de Chimie et Biochimie Moléculaires et Supramoléculaires, UMR-CNRS 5246, Université de Lyon, Université Claude Bernard-Lyon 1, Bâtiment Curien, 43 boulevard du 11 Novembre 1918, F-69622 Villeurbanne Cedex, France Tel: +33-(0)4 72 43 14 07 ; Fax: +33-(0)4 72 43 14 08; E-mail : estelle.metay@univ-lyon1.fr

 <sup>b</sup>Equipe Chimie Organique et Bioorganique, Institut de Chimie et Biochimie Moléculaires et Supramoléculaires, UMR-CNRS 5246, Institut National des Sciences Appliquées (INSA Lyon), Bâtiment Jules Verne, 20 Avenue Albert Einstein, F-69621 Villeurbanne Cedex, France Tel : +33-(0)4 72 43 82 21 Fax : +33-(0)4 72 43 88 96

E-mail : <u>Florence.Popowycz@insa-lyon.fr</u>

# **Table of contents**

| 1. Introduction  |    |
|--|----|
| 2. Hypophosphites and other phosphorus derivatives   |    |
| 3. Cleavage of carbon-heteroatom single bonds  | 7  |
| 3.1. Dehalogenation reaction         3.1.1. Dechlorination         3.1.2. Debromination  | 7  |
| <ul> <li>3.1.3. Deiodination</li> <li>3.2. C-O bond cleavage – Reductive cleavage of benzyl ether and benzyl carbonate</li></ul> |    |
| <ul> <li>3.3. Se-Se bond cleavage</li></ul>  |    |
| 3.5.2. Hydro-dediazoniation         4. Reduction of C-C multiple bonds   |    |
| -  |    |
| 4.1. Alkene reduction  |    |
| 4.2. Alkyne reduction  |    |
| 4.2.1. To alkenes  |    |
| 4.2.3. Reductive decomplexation  |    |
| 5. Reduction of C-heteroatom multiple bonds  |    |
| 5.1. Reduction of carbonyl derivatives   | 24 |
| 5.2. Reductive amination   |    |
| 5.3. Reduction of carboxylic acid derivatives.   |    |
| 5.4. Reduction of nitriles   |    |
| 6. Deoxygenation   |    |
| 6.1. Deoxygenation of carbon compounds   |    |
| 6.1.1. Deoxygenation of phenols into arenes  |    |
| 6.1.2. Radical deoxygenation   |    |
| 6.1.3. Reduction of carbonyl derivatives to methylenes   |    |
| 6.2. Deoxygenation of sulfur compounds   |    |
| 6.3. Deoxygenation of nitrogen compounds   |    |
| 6.3.1. Reduction of nitro derivatives  |    |
| 6.3.1.1. Amine synthesis.  |    |
| 6.3.1.2. Hydroxylamine synthesis and Bamberger rearrangement<br>6.3.1.3. Reduction of nitroalkenes                               |    |
| 6.3.2. Reduction of oximes   |    |
| 6.3.3. Reduction of N-oxides   |    |
|  |    |

42

7. Conclusion....

## 1. Introduction

Catalytic hydrogenation and reduction using metal hydrides are two of the main reduction tools of modern organic chemistry. Catalytic hydrogenation<sup>1</sup> is often preferred for ecological and economic reasons; the amount of waste in that case produced is much lower (principles 2 and 8 of green chemistry). Nevertheless, the use of aluminum and boron hydrides is still very important mainly because such reagents often allow better regio- and chemo-selectivity. On the contrary, enantioselectivity is generally obtained using hydrogenation with transition metal catalysts.<sup>2</sup>

The development of aluminum and boron hydrides was one of the great successes in the chemistry of the second part of the 20<sup>th</sup> century.<sup>3</sup> These hydrides are the subject of numerous books, chapters, reviews and are taught in both theoretical and practical courses in University and Chemistry Schools.<sup>4</sup> However, the search for more specific and efficient reagents for large scale industrial applications, with a lower ecological impact remains one of the main objectives of organic chemists.<sup>5</sup> Due to performance issues in reaching high chemo- and stereo-selectivity, the aluminum and boron reagents are still preferred both in academic and industrial strategies for producing complex molecules. Total synthesis of complex molecules was often compared to art, considering the required creativity in a clever association of a large number of different steps and chemical transformations. The versatility and potential of aluminum and boron hydrides are so important that they are among the most-used reagents in multistep syntheses.<sup>6</sup> The production and use of aluminum and boron hydrides altogether represents several thousands of tons which is indicative of the practical interest of such reagents.<sup>7</sup> Nowadays however, requirements in chemistry are changing fast and the drawbacks of such reagents such as their high flammability in contact either with air or water, their use in combination with toxic flammable solvents, dangerous work-up, the production of hazardous salts,<sup>8</sup> and identified safety concerns appear more and more significant. Therefore, with respect to green chemistry principles, they no longer meet ecological, economical or social demands.9

More recently, hydrosilanes were proposed as alternatives they have silica as ultimate byproduct. Many results have shown that these reagents may efficiently replace aluminum and boron hydrides, sometimes with better selectivity.<sup>10</sup> Unfortunately, they are also

2

**Drganic & Biomolecular Chemistry Accepted Manuscript** 

expensive, toxic and flammable, and in particular conditions, they produce  $SiH_4$  a dangerous pyrophoric gas.<sup>11</sup> These drawbacks might be overcome by using hydrosiloxanes such as TMDS<sup>12</sup> and PMHS<sup>10</sup> but the limitation in case is the relative high cost of the silicon reagent, at least for the moment.

Even before aluminum and boron hydrides were chosen as the main reagents for research and industrial development, other reducing agents were proposed. Formic acid and formate salts were used by Eschweiler in 1905, followed by Clarke in 1933 for reductive methylation of amines.<sup>13</sup> For the same reaction today, sodium borohydride or triacetoxyborohydride is preferred even if the use of these reagents is becoming less attractive due to the ecological impact.<sup>14</sup> Formic acid derivatives were also used for asymmetric reduction of ketones.<sup>15</sup> As well as these successes, formic acid available from CO<sub>2</sub>, may be produced with a favorable life-cycle assessment.<sup>16</sup> Nevertheless, like most reducing agents, an excess of reagent has to be used, making heavy the separation and recycling steps.

Phosphonic and phosphinic acid derivatives have received less attention but were also proposed as early as the sixties by different pioneer researchers, such as Boyer, <sup>17</sup> Beletskaya, <sup>18</sup> Johnstone <sup>19</sup> and Staskun. <sup>20</sup> During our general study dedicated to finding cleaner reducing agents, we failed reducing aliphatic nitro compounds using hydrosiloxanes such as PMHS and TMDS.<sup>12</sup> Conversely, we discovered that the same substrates may be selectively reduced into amines by hypophosphite (Table 1). These encouraging observations are part of the reasons for our interest in phosphorus-reducing agents. Hypophosphites are produced on a very large scale, at low price and are known to be non-toxic. Moreover, the byproducts of these reagents are phosphorus derivatives which are widely used as fertilizers. The purpose of this review is to collect the current applications in fine synthesis concerning phosphinic derivatives as reducing agents.

## 2. Hypophosphites and other phosphorus derivatives

Phosphorous and hypophosphorous acid derivatives are part of the oxoacids of phosphorus in which P has an oxidation state less than +5 (XPO(OH)<sub>2</sub> and X<sub>2</sub>PO(OH) where X = H or P).<sup>21</sup> They are characterized by the P-H bond giving them reducing properties. These compounds are tetravalent and possess at least two P-O bonds (Table 1). Hypophosphorous acid (phosphinic acid) is the least oxygenated derivative and has two P-H bonds while phosphorous acid (phosphonic acid) has only one. Phosphoric acid is fully oxygenated and

thus is not a reducing agent. Table 1. Nomenclature H∕⊢́ H HO-I HO ЮH Ъ ЮH Hypophosphorous acid Phosphorous acid Acids Phosphinic acid<sup>a</sup> Phosphonic acid <sup>a</sup> Phosphoric acid<sup>a</sup>  $1.1^{21}$  $1.3, 6.7^{22}$  $2.2, 7.2, 12.3^{22}$ pKa NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>2</sub> NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>3</sub>/Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>3</sub> NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>/Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>/Na<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> Sodium salts Sodium dihydrogen Sodium dihydrogen phosphate/Disodium phosphite/ hydrogen phosphate/ Sodium Hypophosphite Sodium phosphite/ Trisodium phosphate/ Sodium Phosphinate<sup>a</sup> Sodium Phosphonate<sup>a</sup> Sodium phosphate<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> IUPAC name<sup>23</sup>

Sodium hypophosphite and its derivatives are mostly used to reduce metal salts. On an industrial scale, sodium hypophosphite is mainly used for the plating of metals, plastics and ceramics, also called electroless metal plating. <sup>24</sup> Among the different metals that hypophosphites are able to deposit (for example Co, Cu, Ag, Mn, Pt) nickel is by far the most used. The process is identified as electroless nickel plating <sup>25</sup> (ENP) and is the main application of hypophosphites. ENP is the chemical reduction of nickel salts in water to nickel (0) on a surface (Scheme 1). This process is preferred to the conventional electroplating since it provides a coating of uniform thickness, hardness and good resistance to corrosion.

$$2 H_2 PO_2^- + Ni^{2+} + 2 H_2 O \longrightarrow 2 H_2 PO_3^- + Ni^{(0)} + 2 H^+ + H_2$$

Scheme 1. Nickel reduction by hypophosphite

Hypophosphite derivatives can reduce other inorganic compounds such as germanium oxide in the presence of HCl into trichlorogermane (HGeCl<sub>3</sub>) which is a synthetic intermediate <sup>26,27</sup> of organo-germanium compounds studied for medical (as they have biological activities<sup>26</sup> as antitumor agents) or for potential technological applications.<sup>27</sup>

Sodium hypophosphite has also been reported in the reduction of calcium carbonate into calcium formate under  $CO_2$  pressure (2 bar) catalyzed by rhodium and ruthenium complexes of *meta*-monosulfonated triphenylphosphine.<sup>28</sup>

Hypophosphites and its derivatives are also used as chemical intermediates for the synthesis of phosphorous precursors, which are interesting either for their biological activities<sup>29</sup> (for example as analogues of Fosmidomycin<sup>29a</sup> or modified oligonucleotides<sup>29b</sup>) or their ligand properties<sup>30</sup> among other applications.

Hypophosphites lead to phosphinate derivatives<sup>31</sup> by nucleophilic addition on carbonyl derivatives or by addition on double bonds *via* a radical mechanism.<sup>32</sup> Phosphites react similarly leading to phosphonic derivatives but the use of the organic phosphites is generally preferred to the inorganic phosphorous acid and its salts.<sup>33</sup> Phosphonic derivatives can also be obtained by oxidation of the corresponding phosphinates. More recently, metal catalyzed phosphorus coupling allowing P-C and P-O bond formation from different kind of partners<sup>34</sup> received much interest. Although organic hypophosphites and phosphites are still preferred for these transformations, methodologies using the cheaper and easier to handle inorganic salts and acids are being developed. The end issue addressed is the substitution of POCl<sub>3</sub> in phosphorous chemistry. Green development is emerging as well on the asymmetric synthesis of H-phosphinate esters from these salts that would allow a much more straightforward synthesis of chiral ligands.<sup>35</sup>

Hypophosphites are also employed as additives to reduce the excess of peroxides in epoxidized vegetable oils<sup>36 a</sup> and as stabilizers of fatty alcohols.<sup>36b</sup> Concerning polymer applications, hypophosphites are used as catalysts,<sup>37</sup> heat stabilizers for polymers,<sup>38</sup> whitening agents,<sup>39</sup> and as flame retardant in polymers<sup>40</sup> and cotton fabrics.<sup>41</sup>

Applications in life science and technology have been also reported. Hypophosphites displayed anti-microbial activities by inhibiting the formation of enterotoxin from *Clostridium botulinum* in smoked meat products.<sup>42</sup> In addition, hypophosphites have been used as a source of phosphorous in veterinary and human medicine.<sup>43</sup> Calcium and magnesium hypophosphites are used on cows suffering from *parturient paresis*<sup>44</sup> and have been suggested as good candidates for obesity treatment in humans.<sup>45</sup>

Sodium hypophosphite, hypophosphorous and phosphorous acids are all available in bulk quantity in Europe (up to 10,000 tons/year) and registered in REACH. <sup>46</sup> Sodium

hypophosphite is considered as "non-hazardous substance" for both humans and the environment.<sup>47</sup> Oral LC<sub>50</sub> in rats is higher than 1440 mg/kg, showing low acute toxicity.

Hypophosphites are manufactured from pure yellow phosphorus sludge which is a waste product of the wet process of the synthesis of phosphoric acid,<sup>48</sup> or from an electrothermal phosphorus plant producing white phosphorus.<sup>49</sup> Reaction of elemental phosphorus with alkaline and alkaline earth hydroxides produces hypophosphite with phosphine, hydrogen and phosphite. To obtain pure hypophosphite, the phosphite contaminant has to be removed by precipitation of calcium phosphite followed by a separation. The remaining solution is purified by acid/base treatment and ion exchange. The hypophosphorous acid is mostly produced by cation exchange of a hypophosphite salt by sulfuric acid<sup>50</sup> or ion exchange resin.<sup>51</sup> Historically, barium salt was used. However, due to its poor solubility in water, a large amount of water is required for the process, which explained the replacement of barium salt by sodium salt nowadays.<sup>52</sup>

On heating, hypophosphites and phosphites disproportionate notably into phosphine and phosphoric acid.<sup>21,53</sup> Hyphosphorous / phosphonic acids and their salts display high solubility in water (Table 2). Some of them can be dissolved in acetic acid and in alcohols (mainly ethanol, glycerol and ethylene glycol). Hypophosphorous and phosphorous acids are more soluble than their salts in water and organic solvents. In terms of acidity, hypophosphorous acid (pKa = 1.1) and phosphorous acid (pKa = 1.3, 6.7) are strongly acidic (Table 1).<sup>21,22</sup>

| Table 2. | Solubility | expressed | in | percentage | by | weight | of th | e salt | (or | acid) | in | the | indicate | :d |
|----------|------------|-----------|----|------------|----|--------|-------|--------|-----|-------|----|-----|----------|----|
| solvent  |            |           |    |            |    |        |       |        |     |       |    |     |          |    |

| Reagent                          | Water                      | Ethanol                    | Other  |
|----------------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|--|
| -                                |                            |                            |  |
| $Ca(H_2PO_2)_2$                  | 1354                       | Insoluble <sup>22</sup>    | Glycerol (2-3%) <sup>55</sup>                          |
|                                  | 15                         | monuole                    |  |
|                                  | 51 <sup>56</sup>           | Soluble <sup>57</sup>      |  |
| $NH_4H_2PO_2$                    | 51                         | Soluble                    |  |
|                                  |                            |                            | 58   |
| NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>2</sub> | 58 <sup>58</sup>           | Soluble <sup>55</sup>      | Acetic acid (42%), <sup>58</sup> Ethylene glycol       |
| Ival 121 O2                      | 58                         | Soluble                    | $(25\%)$ , <sup>59</sup> Propylene glycol $(9\%)^{60}$ |
|                                  |                            |                            |  |
| $H_3PO_2$                        | Very soluble <sup>22</sup> | Soluble <sup>22</sup>      | Ether (soluble) <sup><math>22</math></sup>             |
| 1131 02                          | very solutie               | Soluble                    | Ether (soluble)  |
|                                  | 75 <sup>22</sup>           | Very soluble <sup>22</sup> |  |
| $H_3PO_3$                        | 13                         | very soluble               |  |
|                                  | 60                         |                            |  |
| Na <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>3</sub> | Very soluble <sup>60</sup> |                            |  |
|                                  |                            |                            |  |

Hypophosphite and phosphite derivatives are powerful reductants.<sup>22</sup> The general trend is as follows: acids are weaker reducing agents than their corresponding salts and hypophosphite derivatives are more powerful reductants than the phosphite derivatives (see Table 3).<sup>61</sup>

| Entry | Half equation  | E° (V) |
|-------|--|--------|
| 1     | $HPO_3^{2^-} + 2 H_2O + 2 e^- \implies H_2PO_2^- + 3 OH^-$ | -1.65  |
| 2     | $PO_4^{3-} + 2H_2O + 2e^{-} \implies HPO_3^{2-} + 3OH^{-}$ | -1.05  |
| 3     | $H_3PO_3 + 2 H^+ + 2 e^- + H_3PO_2 + H_2O$                 | -0.5   |
| 4     | $H_3PO_4 + 2 H^+ + 2 e^ H_3PO_3 + H_2O$                    | -0.28  |

 Table 3. Standard reduction potentials<sup>22</sup>

In reduction, hypophosphites are oxidized to phosphites and phosphates. Phosphates are non-toxic<sup>47</sup> side-products mainly used as fertilizers in millions of tons per year.<sup>21,34,62</sup>

#### 3. Cleavage of carbon-heteroatom single bonds

## 3.1. Dehalogenation reaction

Dehalogenation reactions are often used in order to eliminate chlorine, bromine or iodine introduced as a directing group on an aromatic substrate or even more often to eliminate halogenated (mainly chloro-derivative) products which are known not only to be toxic but also persistent in the environment.

#### 3.1.1. Dechlorination

Remediation by reductive dechlorination may be a solution for groundwaters contaminated by chlorinated molecules. In the present policy related to environmental and ethical issues, these problems have been studied since the early 1980s, with the report of reductive dechlorination of perchloroethene (PCE) and trichloroethene (TCE) under microbiological conditions.<sup>63</sup> This investigation domain has received considerable attention in order to discover greener methods for dehalogenation reactions.

In 1985, Boyer from the Ciba-Geigy company described a mild and efficient process for dehalogenation processes of polyhalogenated aromatics including PCBs. Arochlor 1254 **1** (PCB mixture containing 13.8% of tetrachlorobiphenyls, 61.9% of pentachlorobiphenyls, 23.3% of hexachlorobiphenyls and 1% of heptachlorobiphenyls), was submitted for

dechlorination in toluene in the presence of a large excess of sodium hypophosphite, sodium carbonate and Pd/C 10% at 90 °C during 5 hours, leading to biphenyl **2** in 85% isolated yield (Scheme 2).<sup>64</sup>



Scheme 2. Dechlorination of Arochlor 1254 (1)

Under the above conditions, chlorobenzene, 1,4-dibromobiphenyl, 4-chloro-anisole and 1,2,4trichlorobenzene were completely converted into the de-halogenated products.<sup>64b</sup> The reaction was efficiently extended to chloroaromatics (such as benzene, naphthalene, quinolone and pyridine) or activated chloroalkanes (benzyl chlorides).<sup>64a</sup> For example, chlorobenzene **3** or benzyl chloride **5** were de-halogenated with yields higher than 90% (Scheme 3, conditions a). The reduction of chlorocyclohexane ran to failure indicating the limitation of the method to activated chlorinated derivatives.<sup>17</sup> Therefore, unfortunately, compounds such as Lindane (hexachlorocyclohexane) used as pesticides until 2007 in large quantities, but also known as being toxic<sup>65</sup> cannot be destroyed by this process.



Scheme 3. Dechlorination reaction

The challenging selective monohydrogenolysis of polyhalogenated compounds activated in  $\alpha$  position of a carbonyl group proceeded efficiently by using sodium hypophosphite in combination with a buffer solution of sodium acetate/acetic acid to neutralize the HCl released. The geminal dichlorolactam 7 and methyl dichloroacetate 9 were successfully converted into the corresponding monochlorinated derivatives 8 and 10 with excellent yields

(Scheme 3, conditions b). Carbon tetrachloride was also cleanly reduced into chloroform (90% yield).

The above pioneering work of Boyer was later adapted for the reduction of polyhalofluoroalkanes such as 1,1,1-trifluorotrichloroethane into 2,2-dichloro-1,1,1-trifluoroethane with 92% isolated yield with platinum on charcoal instead of palladium which required a longer reaction time.<sup>66</sup> Catalytic hydrogenolysis of water-soluble chlorinated substrates (substituted benzoic acids, phenols and anilines) was described by Beletskaya et al. using catalytic PdCl<sub>2</sub> in alkaline aqueous medium.<sup>18</sup> The following optimized conditions were used for exemplification: chloroarene (1 equiv), NaOH (3 equiv), PdCl<sub>2</sub> (5 mol %), NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>2</sub>.H<sub>2</sub>O (5 equiv) in water, during 6 to 8 hours at 50-70 °C. *Para*-chloro benzoic acid and phenol were dehalogenated with excellent yields of 94% and 83%, respectively. A drastic decrease in yield was observed for the chloro-substituent in *ortho* position (<20%). The hydrogenolysis of chloropyridines and 3,5-chloropicolinic acid remained inefficient under all the conditions tested with isolated yields lower than 15%.

Physical activation techniques were used with hypophosphite and Pd/C to reduce chlorinated molecules. In alkaline solution under microwave activation, the chlorobenzene afforded a mixture of phenol and benzene.<sup>67</sup> Dechlorination has been also carried out in a planetary ball-mill in the absence of solvent, for example on hexachlorobenzene, to afford benzene in a mixture of partially chlorinated benzenes.<sup>68</sup>

Multiphase solvent systems composed of isooctane and water in the presence of a phase transfer catalyst (PTC) such as Aliquat 336 or Tween 20 increased the kinetic constants of the dechlorination reaction with quantitative yields.<sup>69</sup> PTC conditions improved the transfer of hypophosphite species from the aqueous phase to the palladium surface, as well as the neutralization of hydrochloric acid. The catalytic hydrogen-transfer reduction mediated by sodium hypophosphite has been used to synthesize reactive intermediates<sup>70a</sup> and molecules of therapeutic interest<sup>70b,c</sup> such as substituted indolones<sup>71</sup> **12** or with supramolecular assembly application such as 5-cyano[*n*](2,4)pyridinophanes<sup>72</sup> **14** (Scheme 4). Under these conditions, nitriles and amides were not reduced as well as pyridine ring. Chlorine in alpha position of an amide and an aromatic as can be found in **11** was selectively reduced in the presence of unactivated aliphatic bromine into **12** with an excellent yield of 89%. Interestingly as well, in the reduction of chloropyridine **13** into **14**, sodium hypophosphite and Pd/C were preferred to hydrazine with Pd/C giving only moderate yield of 51%.<sup>72</sup>

Scheme 4. Application of the dehalogenation methodology

## 3.1.2. Debromination

As the bond dissociation energy of C-Br, evaluated at 285 kJ.mol<sup>-1</sup>, is weaker than that of the C-Cl bond (around 331 kJ.mol<sup>-1</sup>), the previously described methods for hydrodechlorination are even easier on bromo-substituted benzene, pyridine, quinolone, benzonitrile<sup>64b</sup> pyrimidine, furan, phenetol, phenanthrene, indole, and polybromofluoroalkanes with chemoselectivity.<sup>66</sup> Debromination was performed on bromide 15 affording ergoline derivative 16, which has potential antidopaminergic properties, with 44% yield (Scheme 5).<sup>73</sup> As part of a purification process of citalopram (17), an antidepressant, contaminated with 5-bromoisobenzofuran (18), a debromination process based on hypophosphite reducing agent (NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>2</sub>, EtOAc, Pd/C, reflux, 2 h) was successfully developed by Sun Parmaceuticals (Scheme 5).<sup>74</sup>



Scheme 5. Application of the debromination reaction

Hypophosphorous acid alone allowed the debromination of 2-bromo-3,4,5-trinitrothiophene in 76% yield.<sup>75</sup> This procedure allowed the mono-debromination of 2,5-dibromo-3,4-dinitrothiophene in 85% yield.<sup>76</sup>

Radical conditions were first developed by Barton and coworkers in 1992 using  $H_3PO_2$ /triethylamine/AIBN.<sup>77</sup> The radical initiator could be AIBN, Et<sub>3</sub>B/air or hydrophilic azoamidine radical initiator (known as azo polymerization initiators)<sup>78</sup> and reductions were performed with  $H_3PO_2$ /triethylamine,<sup>77</sup> sodium hypophosphite<sup>32</sup> and (Bu<sub>4</sub>N)<sup>+</sup>H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>2</sub><sup>-.79</sup> The use of a base such as triethylamine with  $H_3PO_2$  or NaOH with sodium hypophosphite has been studied to prevent decomposition of acid-labile substrates such as nucleoside derivatives, with this specific case, an acetonitrile/water solvent mixture. Processes for preparing 6,7,8-

trihydroxy-1-(hydroxymethyl)-3-oxo-2-oxa-4-azabicyclo-[3.3.1]nonane were patented by the Yuhan Corporation with a key step of reduction by hypophosphite to obtain valiolamine (**22**), displaying  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibitory activity and used for preventing/treating hyperglycemic disorders (Scheme 6). Intermediate **20** could be applied to an industrial scale mass production.<sup>80</sup>



Scheme 6. Access to valiolamine

#### 3.1.3. Deiodination

Similarly to the debromination of bromothiophene derivatives,<sup>75</sup> the deiodination of iodo-2,4,6-trinitrobenzene was done with hypophosphorous acid alone in quantitative yield.<sup>81</sup> These conditions modified by the addition of a radical initiator were later applied for the dehalogenation of aromatic and aliphatic derivatives in the presence of carboxylic acids, ketones, ketals, ethers and esters.<sup>77,82</sup> The radical formed during the dehalogenation step can react with a double bond to afford cyclic compounds exo trig cyclization (Scheme 7).<sup>83</sup> Intermolecular versions of this transformation were also reported.<sup>84</sup>



Scheme 7. Application of the dehalogenation methodology to C-C bond formation

An example of a deiodination reaction was reported by Hu and co-workers in 1991<sup>66</sup> as part of a study devoted to the selective reduction of polyhalofluoroalkanes. In the presence of an almost stoichiometric quantity of sodium hypophosphite (1.1 equiv) and sodium acetate (1.1 equiv) with platinum catalyst in acetic acid at 40 °C for 6 hours,  $CF_3(CH_2)_5I$  was reduced to  $CF_3(CH_2)_5H$  with 81% yield. Use of Pd/C required a longer reaction time.

Deiodination was also observed with sodium hypophosphite and Raney nickel during a reductive desulfurization.<sup>85</sup>

## 3.2. C-O bond cleavage – Reductive cleavage of benzyl ether and benzyl carbonate

Sala and co-workers described the cleavage of benzyl ethers and benzyl carbonates with sodium hypophosphite (1.2-2 equiv) and Pd/C (5-10% w/w) in high yields (86-98%) (see scheme 8).<sup>86</sup> With these conditions, benzyl ethers can be hydrogenolyzed with a good chemoselectivity towards carboxylic acid (26) and aromatic ketone (28). Benzylcarbonates 29 and 31 were selectively cleaved in the presence of halogens or acetamides (Scheme 8).



Scheme 8. Hydrogenolysis of benzyl ethers and carbonates

Selective cleavage of benzyl ethers in the presence of chloro substituents was studied in the synthesis of 4-arylquinolin-2(1H)-ones **34** (Scheme 9).<sup>87</sup> Sodium chloride was used as an additive to deactivate the cationic Pd sites and thus lead to excellent chemoselectivity (Scheme 9). Extension of this methodology was described for the synthesis of indole intermediates of Peroxisome Proliferator Activated Receptors (PPARs)<sup>88</sup> developed by Eli Lilly or farnesoid X receptor modulators.<sup>89</sup>



Scheme 9. Application of the benzyl ether cleavage

Use of  $K_2CO_3$  in the presence of THF has been also reported for the deprotection of benzyl ether with sodium hypophosphite and Pd/C<sup>17</sup> but with a concomitant dechlorination under these conditions.

## 3.3. Se-Se bond cleavage

Reduction of diselenide to selenol was reported by action of 1 molar equivalent of 50% aqueous hypophosphorous solution at 80 °C under nitrogen atmosphere.<sup>90</sup> For example, dimethyl diselenide was reduced in methylselenol in 88% yield. Only phosphorous acid was formed as side product and was unable to reduce diselenide. Azobenzene, sulfoxide and thio

ether were not reduced by hypophosphorous acid alone. However, the presence of a catalytic quantity of diselenide allowed their reduction. This methodology of reduction of diselenide to selenol was preferred to the reduction by NaBH<sub>4</sub> which was exothermic and led to gas evolution.<sup>91</sup> It was applied to the synthesis of organic selenide derivatives.<sup>91,92</sup> A recent example concerned the synthesis of 2-organylselanyl pyridines in glycerol.<sup>93</sup>

# 3.4. C-S and S-S bond cleavage

Disulfide can be cleaved by hypophosphorous acid in the presence of a catalytic quantity of diselenide.<sup>90</sup> For example, bis(2-trimethylammonium ethyl)disulfide iodine (( $CH_3$ )<sub>3</sub>N<sup>+</sup>-  $CH_2CH_2S$ )<sub>2</sub>I was cleaved in 90% yield.

One synthesis of trifluoromethylsulfide **37**, an intermediate in the synthesis of Fipronil, an insecticide, was reported.<sup>94</sup> Disulfide **36** was reduced to thiol by sodium hypophosphite in the presence of an over stoichiometric amount of SO<sub>2</sub> in DMA/water. The thiol was alkylated *in situ* by trifluoromethylbromide at 80 °C for 2 h in **37** with 89% yield (Scheme 10).



Scheme 10. Reduction of disulfide to thiol and in situ alkylation to thio ether

The reduction of the C-S bond in xanthates<sup>95</sup> or dithiocarbamates<sup>96</sup> was performed with hypophosphorous acid in the presence of triethylamine and a radical initiator (AIBN or ACHN: 1,1'-azobis(cyclohexanecarbonitritrile)). These reductions were compatible with the presence of amide function (example of **38** converted in 87% yield into **39**) but also with ketones and alcohols (Scheme 11).



Scheme 11. Reduction of dithiocarbamates

Node found that a combination of Raney nickel (W-2)-sodium hypophosphite in ethanol and acetate buffer (pH 5.2) was an excellent combination for the desulphurization of thio ethers or sulfoxides bearing an optically-active secondary alcohol without any loss of the optical activity (Scheme 12).<sup>97</sup> Under these conditions, benzylthio- or phenylthio-ethers can

be cleaved selectively in the presence of benzyl ether. It was observed that the order of addition of reagents (Raney Ni and NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>2</sub>.H<sub>2</sub>O) to the starting material solution was critical to the desulphurization. This system was later employed in various applications.<sup>98,85</sup>



Scheme 12. Desulphurization of chiral alcohols

## 3.5. Reductive C-N bond cleavage

Only a few publications reported the debenzylation of secondary and tertiary benzylamine or the deprotection of carbamate. The reductive cleavage of C-N bond mainly focused on the dediazotation reaction.

## 3.5.1. Reductive cleavage of benzyl amine and benzyl carbamate

The metal-catalyzed debenzylation of tertiary benzylamines was achieved with sodium hypophosphite and Pd/C but with lower efficiency in comparison to other hydrogen donors investigated (ammonium formate, hydrazine hydrate).<sup>99</sup> *N*-Benzyl-*N*-ethylaniline **42** was quantitatively hydrogenolyzed in **43** with sodium hypophosphite (Scheme 13) with 64% isolated yield. This moderate yield may come from the partially water solubility of the aniline salt.



Scheme 13. Conditions of N-debenzylation

The application of *N*-debenzylation in molecules of therapeutic interest has been described in recent patents. In a patent filed by Hoffmann la Roche, the selective debenzylation of pyrrolidine **44** bearing chlorosubstituents was done in the presence of NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>2</sub> (2 equiv), Pd/C, an aqueous solution of NaCl, in MeOH at 65 °C for 4 hours in 48% yield in **45** (Scheme 13).<sup>100</sup>

#### **Organic & Biomolecular Chemistry**

The metal-free cleavage of benzylamines and aliphatic amines by phosphinic acid /  $I_2$  in acetic acid has also been reported in good yields (66-93%). Under these conditions nitroderivatives, ureas and carboxylic acids were neither reduced nor degraded. In addition, amides were tolerated as can be seen in the reductive cleavage of hemiaminal **46** to **47** in 81% yield (Scheme 14).<sup>101</sup> The presence of thioether did not impair the reduction.



Scheme 14. Cleavage of amine by H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>2</sub> / I<sub>2</sub> / AcOH

One example of carbamate deprotection has been reported with sodium hypophosphite in the presence of Pd/C,  $K_2CO_3$  in THF /  $H_2O$ .<sup>17</sup> Carbamate can also be removed by sodium hypophosphite in the presence of Raney nickel in acetate buffer at room temperature as illustrated by the reduction of **48** with simultaneous desulfurization to **49** in 85% yield over two steps (Scheme 15).<sup>102</sup>



Scheme 15. Example of chemoselective carbamate deprotection

#### 3.5.2. Hydro-dediazoniation

Mai was one of the first to report the reduction of an arene diazonium salt to the corresponding arene by phosphinic acid.<sup>103</sup> Phosphinic acid reduction of diazonium salts can be catalyzed by KMnO<sub>4</sub>, K<sub>2</sub>Cr<sub>2</sub>O<sub>7</sub>, CuSO<sub>4</sub>, FeSO<sub>4</sub> and Cu. A mechanistic study has been carried out by the team of Kornblum<sup>104</sup> who showed a free radical chain reaction. Although other reducing systems are available for the hydro-dediazoniation, the use of phosphinic acid is recommended for its efficiency and ease of operation<sup>105</sup> on the multigram scale (Scheme 16).<sup>106</sup>

Page 16 of 55



Scheme 16. Reduction of diazonium salt on multigram scale

More recently, calcium hypophosphite in association with iron sulfate was used instead of phosphinic acid. Exploring the potential of Ca(H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>2</sub>)<sub>2</sub> directly represents an economy of steps.<sup>107</sup>

#### 4. Reduction of C-C multiple bonds

#### 4.1. Alkene reduction

In 1972, Bakulina studied the decomposition of sodium hypophosphite for the reduction of alkene as a substitute for molecular hydrogen on small-scale reactions.<sup>108</sup> The comparison of reduction with molecular hydrogen and sodium hypophosphite was carried out on cinnamic acid **53** over Pd/C at 30 °C (Scheme 17). In both cases, the reduction rate was independent of the cinnamic acid concentration. The hydrogen transfer with sodium hypophosphite was slower than classical hydrogenation, and was attributed to the adsorption of hypophosphite on the catalyst surface. However, the authors highlighted the ease of operation at laboratory scale of the reduction mediated by sodium hypophosphite.



Scheme 17. Reduction of cinnamic acid

Sala reported the hydrogenolysis of benzyl ethers and in the same paper described the reduction of alkenes into alkanes.<sup>86</sup> The reaction conditions are similar to those used for the debenzylation procedure, with slight changes in temperature and time. A good chemoselectivity was observed with a tolerance towards aliphatic nitrile, ester, carboxylic acid, aromatic halide and even aliphatic aldehyde functions (Scheme 18). Some substrates were efficiently reduced in DMF and alkaline water which are rarely used with hypophosphites.



Scheme 18. Sala's conditions for the reduction of C=C (Reduced bonds in blue)

Slight modifications of the reaction conditions do not affect the issue: base such as  $K_2CO_3$  in THF as solvent instead of EtOH can be used (Scheme 19).<sup>17</sup> Simple alkenes could be reduced efficiently in alkanes **62** and **63**, as well as conjugated alkenes into **64** and **65**. Selectivity toward aliphatic nitrile was also observed with the reduction of cinnamonitrile into dihydrocinnamonitrile **64** with 87% yield. Selectivity towards imine was also observed with the synthesis of **65** with 81% yield from the corresponding alkene.



Scheme 19. Boyer's work on C=C reduction

Similar conditions were recently applied to the total reduction of (*R*)-4,8-dimethylnona-1,7diene, <sup>109</sup> of conjugated alkenes with aromatic and heteroaromatic rings **66**, <sup>110</sup> of tetraphenylporphyrins **67**,<sup>111</sup> of dehydrolavandulol to tetrahydrolavandulol **68**<sup>112</sup> (used in the fragrance industry as a substitute for the scent of roses) or 18-devinyl-18-(1methoxyethyl)bilirubin into **70** (Scheme 20).<sup>113</sup>





Scheme 20. An example of the use of hypophosphite for the reduction of complex substrates

Later, the reduction of sterically-hindered alkenes was studied with ammonium hypophosphite in the presence of palladium on charcoal (1.5 mol % at room temperature) (Scheme 21).<sup>114</sup> A strong solvent effect was observed. For example, in the presence of benzene (Method A) or biphasic benzene/H<sub>2</sub>O (Method B), mono- and di-substituted alkenes were completely reduced while tetra-substituted alkenes led to zero conversion. Method A proved its efficiency in reduction of oct-1-ene, oct-2-ene, methylene cyclohexane and 3-methylene-2-norbornanone into **71-73**, respectively, with yields higher than 87% in less than 3 h. The conditions in Method B (benzene/H<sub>2</sub>O solvent) could not reduce  $\Delta^{9,10}$ -octalin into **74** after 4 h and in a more general extent tetrasubstituted alkenes. The hypothesis was made that benzene competes with the substrate on the palladium surface. Thus, neat conditions (Method C) were applied allowing the reduction of sterically-hindered  $\Delta^{9,10}$ -octalin,  $\beta$ -ionone and pinene in high yields.  $\Delta^{9,10}$ -Octalin was reduced under thermodynamic control into *trans*-decalin; *trans*-**74** was predominantly obtained (ratio *trans / cis* : 92 / 8). On the contrary, the reduction of pinene mainly led to *cis*-pinane **76**.



Scheme 21. Reduction of alkenes with ammonium hypophosphite

In order to explain the strong solvent effect observed, the authors proposed a mechanism (Scheme 22) with a competition between two reactions: the desorption of hydrogen to produce molecular hydrogen (Scheme 22, eq. a) and the transfer hydrogenation of the alkene (Scheme 22, eq. b). The production of hydrogen by decomposition of hypophosphite in the presence of water on palladium on charcoal in the absence of reducible substrate is known.<sup>17</sup> In the presence of a reducible functional group, the competition between the solvent, the hypophosphite and substrate for the catalyst surface will determine the extent of the reduction.



Scheme 22. Competition between hydrogen production and alkene reduction

From the results obtained, mono- and di-substituted alkenes follow the mechanism proposed in eq. b. Palladium has more affinity for these alkenes than for benzene. On the contrary, the absence of reduction of tetra-substituted alkenes under Methods A and B would follow eq. a. This means that benzene has a better affinity with the palladium than the tetra-substituted alkenes. This hypothesis is partially confirmed by the quantitative reduction of tetra-substituted alkenes under neat conditions.

More recently, the transfer hydrogenation of 3-buten-1-ol by sodium hypophosphite on Pdblack film pointed out<sup>115</sup> the concentration of hypophosphite was the main factor controlling the rate of reaction and selectivity. Ni-P electroless alloys have also been studied on the reduction of 3-buten-1-ol.<sup>116</sup>

A homogeneous reduction of oct-1-ene was reported using  $KH_2PO_2$  in an alkaline solution of aqueous methanol.<sup>117</sup> The reduction into octane **71** catalyzed by  $RuCl_2(PPh_3)_3$  reached 50% yield after 1 h and 85% yield after 4 h (Scheme 23). In comparison, the reaction in the presence of the Wilkinson catalyst (RhCl(PPh\_3)\_3) reached only 21% yield after 1 h and 45% of isomerization in 2-octene was observed. The chemoselectivity was not studied under these conditions.



Scheme 23. Reduction of oct-1-ene catalyzed by homogeneous catalyst

Alkenes have been also reduced by  $H_3PO_2 / I_2$ .<sup>118</sup> Interestingly, the thiophene nucleus did not impair the reaction contrary to basic nitrogen and electron-withdrawing substituents.

## 4.2. Alkyne reduction

## 4.2.1. To alkanes

A reduction of alkyne **78** into alkane **79** was reported with sodium hypophosphite in the presence of palladium on carbon with 95% yield in a recent patent describing the access to drospirenone (Scheme 24),<sup>119</sup> a progestin and active pharmaceutical ingredient of Yasmin<sup>®</sup>, a birth control pill.



Scheme 24. Reduction of alkyne to alkane in the synthesis of dropirenone

The alkyne **80** was also reduced to the alkane **81** in the presence of aryl chloride and pyridines in 50% yield as illustrated in Scheme 25 with potential application as inhibitors of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase.<sup>120</sup>



Scheme 25. Chemoselective reduction of alkyne to alkane

## 4.2.2. To alkenes

Johnstone reported a stereoselective and specific reduction of alkyne to *cis*-alkene with sodium hypophosphite in a water / THF solvent mixture in the presence of palladium on carbon modified with Pb or Hg.<sup>121</sup> Hydrogen donors such as phosphinic acid, phosphinates, phosphorous acid and phosphites were also tested. Sodium hypophosphite was the most efficient for the rapid conversion of alkynes into olefins. Amongst the catalysts investigated under these conditions, Pt, Rh and Ru were found to be inactive. However, palladium was the most active alone leading to no selectivity and with an over reduction in favor of the alkane. The rate of reduction was too fast to allow the isolation of alkenes in reasonable yields. The combination of Pb or Hg with palladium allowed the reduction into olefins. The reaction conditions proved to be chemoselective towards the ester (**82**), alcohol (**83**) and olefin (**84**) (Scheme 26). In a conjugated ene-yne system, only the alkyne was reduced leading for example to **85** without trace of double bond migration.



Scheme 26. Selective reduction of alkyne to (Z)-alkene with modified Pd/C catalysts

Epoxysulfonamides,<sup>122</sup> displaying interesting biological activity for example as antifilarial agents, were prepared from ethynesulfonamides **86** by hydrogenation under similar conditions previously developed by Johnstone<sup>121</sup> (barium sulfate poisoned palladium catalyst) (Scheme 27).



Scheme 27. Ethylenesulfonamide synthesis

Inspired by the work of Johnstone using a modified palladium catalyst, Khai reported the reduction of alkyne to alkene with a commercially-available Pd/C and ammonium hypophosphite in a water/benzene solvent mixture.<sup>114</sup> After 2 hours at room temperature, diphenylacetylene was converted into stilbene **88** with high stereoselectivity (83.5% *cis* and 5.7% *trans*). Alkane, the over-reduction product, was isolated with 8% yield. The reaction also needed careful monitoring in order to avoid over reduction which increased significantly with the reaction time. 4-Phenyl-3-butyn-2-one and ethyl phenyl propiolate were reduced with comparable yields and stereoselectivities in **89** and **90**, respectively (Scheme 28).



Scheme 28. Selective alkyne reduction to (Z)-alkene

Recently, a selective reduction of alkynes to (*E*)-alkenes was reported in the presence of hypophosphorous acid and catalyzed by 1,3-bis(diphenylphosphino)propane nickel(II) chloride (NiCl<sub>2</sub>(dppp)) in acetic acid (Scheme 29).<sup>123</sup> These conditions were efficient on diphenylalkynes providing (*E*)-stilbenes in 55-86% with *E*:*Z* selectivity higher than 98:2 and a good chemoselectivity. Halogen (Cl, F), ester, ether, boronic acid functions and thiophene nucleus were not reduced. Easily hydrolysable trimethylsilyl group was tolerated and the reduction of **91** afforded the corresponding stilbene **92** with 82% yield (Scheme 29). Dialkylalkyne such as dodec-6-yne was reduced in moderate yield (44%) due to a competitive reaction of hydration leading to 6-dodecanone. Terminal alkyne, such as phenylacetylene, was even more sensitive to hydrolysis affording acetophenone and no alkene was detected. The optimization showed that with homogeneous palladium catalysts (Pd<sub>2</sub>(dba)<sub>3</sub>, PdCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub> and Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub>), the selectivity was in favor of the (*Z*)-alkene contrary to nickel catalysts (NiCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub> and NiCl<sub>2</sub>(dppp)). The reduction in acetic acid was more efficient than in DMSO, DMF, dioxane, THF, toluene or hexane. The authors showed that an isomerization of

(Z)-alkene to (E)-alkene occurred under these conditions only in the presence of hypophosphorous acid.



**Scheme 29.** Reduction of internal alkynes to alkenes by hypophosphorous acid catalyzed by NiCl<sub>2</sub>(dppp)

Aromatic and aliphatic terminal alkynes were selectively reduced to alkenes by hypophosphorous acid catalyzed by copper citrate (5 mol %), HMTA (5 mol %) in DMF at 130 °C in high yields.<sup>124</sup> No reduction of ether, halogens, ketone, ester, carboxylic acid and phthalimide was observed. In the case of internal and terminal alkynes on the same molecule, only the terminal alkyne was selectively reduced such as **93** into **94** with 87% yield (Scheme 30). Undesired dimers by-products, generated *via* the homo-addition of phenylacetylene were suppressed by the addition of 5 mol% hexamethylenetetramine. In both cases, the supposed mechanism goes through a hydrometalation followed by a reduction of the metal (II) to metal (0) by hypophosphorous acid.



Scheme 30. Regioselective reduction of terminal alkynes to alkenes catalyzed by copper

#### 4.2.3. Reductive decomplexation

Sodium hypophosphite monohydrate was used as a safe, effective and economical reagent in replacement of tri-*n*-butyl tin hydride for the reductive decomplexation of acetylenebiscobalt-hexacarbonyl. The cobalt complex of 7-membered ring alkyne **95** was converted into the corresponding olefin **96** with a large excess of NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>2</sub> monohydrate (5 equivalents) with a satisfactory yield of 82% (Scheme 31).<sup>125</sup> A total synthesis of ciguatoxin involving an acetylene-dicobalt-carbonyl complex was reported by the same research group.<sup>126</sup> Iwasawa then applied the same methodology on bridged-type cycloadducts **97** (Scheme 31).<sup>127</sup>

Page 24 of 55



Scheme 31. Reductive decomplexation

#### 5. Reduction of C-heteroatom multiple bonds

#### 5.1. Reduction of carbonyl derivatives

With a catalytic amount of metal, carbonyl derivatives were reduced either in alcohols or alkanes depending on the metal used and the structure of the substrate to be reduced.

#### Reduction catalyzed by Ir, Rh and Ru salts or complexes

Carbonyl derivatives were selectively reduced in alcohols by hypophosphites in the presence of iridium<sup>128</sup> and ruthenium catalysts.<sup>129</sup> Henbest and Mitchell reported the reduction of carbonyl derivatives by phosphorous acid (or an easily hydrolyzed ester of this acid) with iridium chloride in aqueous isopropanol.<sup>128</sup> This method, often called the Henbest reduction, allows the reduction of cyclic ketones with good diastereoselectivity to the thermodynamically unfavored axial alcohols. Nonadecan-2-one is only reduced in 27% yield under the same conditions and benzophenone is unreactive. The reaction is also sensitive to steric hindrance.<sup>128c</sup> Hypophosphorous acid, under these conditions, was a good reductant with a better reduction rate than phosphorous acid. For example, 4-*tert*-butylcyclohexanone **99** was reduced quantitatively into the alcohol **100** with a *cis/trans* ratio of 97:3 by hypophosphorous acid and IrCl<sub>4</sub> (Scheme 32).



Scheme 32. Reduction of 4-*tert*-butylcyclohexanone by hypophosphorous acid / iridium chloride

Selectivity towards cyclic ketone reduction was applied to the synthesis of steroids due to excellent stereo- and chemoselectivities. Only the cyclic ketone was reduced and the main product was the axial alcohol **102**.<sup>128b,130</sup> The reaction tolerates amide and amine functions.<sup>130c</sup>

The use of phosphorous acid instead of trimethylphosphite increases the yield from 35 to 60% (Scheme 33).<sup>130b</sup>



Scheme 33. Application of Henbest reduction to steroid synthesis

In 1970, a study showed that the addition of acetic acid decreased the reaction rate while NaOH induced a 3-fold increase in the reaction rate. The iridium catalyst can be replaced by the Wilkinson's catalyst. Yields were comparable to those with the iridium catalyst but with better stereospecificities and regioselectivities.<sup>131</sup>

Khai and Arcelli developed a method for the reduction of ketones catalyzed by RuCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub> (1 mol%) in the presence of triethylammonium hypophosphite (NEt<sub>3</sub>H<sup>+</sup>.H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>) both as solvent and reducing agent at room temperature for 24 h.<sup>129a</sup> Under these conditions, aromatic and aliphatic ketones were chemoselectively reduced in good to excellent isolated yields (81-94%). Aromatic nitro-derivatives, halides, alkenes, nitriles and esters were not reduced. Deactivation of the RuCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub> catalyst was observed and subsequently resolved by supporting RuCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub> on carbon; therefore the question of the true catalyst homogeneous transition metal complex or metal particles still remains unsolved.<sup>129b</sup> Good stereoselectivity was obtained on cyclic ketones generally giving the axial alcohol as main product. Benzylideneacetone **103** was selectively reduced into the unsaturated alcohol **104** with 71% yield and 27% of the starting material was recovered (Scheme 34). The reduction of chalcone led to the allylic alcohol with 20% yield as well as the saturated ketone with 40% yield. In both cases, saturated alcohols were not observed.



**Scheme 34.** Reduction of benzylidene acetone by triethylammonium hypophosphite catalyzed by RuCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>

The enantioselective reduction of ethyl 4-chloroacetoacetate to ethyl 3-hydroxy-4chlorobutyrate by  $NEt_3H^+$ . $H_2PO_2^-$  catalyzed by ruthenium BINAP was carried out with almost quantitative yield and 38% *ee*.<sup>129b</sup> Recently, reduction under biphasic conditions using sodium hypophosphite as the reducing agent instead of the combination of triethylamine / phosphinic acid has been described by our group.  $[RuCl_2(p-cymene)]_2$  in association with bipyridine reduced aliphatic and aromatic ketones with a good chemoselectivity. An enantioselective version was developed with RuCl(p-cymene)[(R,R)-TsDPEN] in a biphasic solvent mixture of glycerol / 2-MeTHF (Scheme 35). This solvent mixture was important in order to reach high conversion and enantioselectivity ranging from 67 to 97% *ee* on aromatic and heteroaromatic ketones. However, only poor enantiomeric excess was obtained with aliphatic ketones.



Scheme 35. Enantioselective reduction of ketone with RuCl(*p*-cymene)[(*R*,*R*)-TsDPEN]

## Reduction catalyzed by palladium

Sodium hypophosphite in the presence of palladium on carbon and a stoichiometric amount of potassium carbonate reduced methyl benzoylformate and benzaldehyde to the corresponding alcohols **107** and **108** with good yields (Scheme 36).<sup>17</sup> However, acetophenone and aliphatic aldehydes were poorly converted into **109** and **110** after several days of reflux and aliphatic ketones were unreactive (**111** was not detected).



Scheme 36. Reduction of carbonyls by sodium hypophosphite catalyzed by Pd/C in the presence of a base

Reduction of quinone to hydroquinone was reported using phosphinic acid and Pd/C in different solvents (EtOH, THF, toluene).<sup>133</sup> In the absence of a catalyst, phosphinic acid or sodium hypophosphite reduced quinones very slowly in modest yields.

Reduction of aromatic ketone with sodium hypophosphite and palladium on carbon in the absence of base in a biphasic solvent (toluene / water), led to a mixture of the alcohol and the alkane product from competitive over-reduction.<sup>134</sup>

## 5.2. Reductive amination

The modified Leuckart-Wallach *N*-methylation was first described by Redmore in 1978 with phosphorous acid and aqueous formaldehyde. Dimethylation of benzylamine substrate was performed in 72% yield with two equivalents of formaldehyde. When only one equivalent of the carbonyl derivative was added a mixture of monomethylated and dimethylated products was observed.<sup>135</sup> These conditions were later used in the total synthesis of benzanthrin pseudoaglycone **112** which exhibits antimicrobial activity (Figure 1). The dimethylated intermediate was prepared from the corresponding amine in dioxane at 60°C with an excess of formaldehyde and NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>3</sub>.<sup>136</sup>



Figure 1. Structure of benzanthrin pseudoaglycone

## 5.3. Reduction of carboxylic acid derivatives

Gooßen and coworkers reported the reduction by sodium hypophosphite of carboxylic acids into aldehydes through the reduction of mixed anhydrides.<sup>137</sup> The reaction involves a catalyst generated *in situ* from palladium acetate (3 mol %) and tricyclohexylphosphine (7 mol %), pivalic anhydride, six equivalents of water and potassium phosphate as the base (Scheme 37). In this case, hypophosphorous acid, potassium and calcium hypophosphite are less efficient than sodium hypophosphite. This reaction can be applied to either aromatic or aliphatic carboxylic acids with good chemoselectivity towards ketones, esters, nitriles, methyl ethers, amides and conjugated double bonds.



Scheme 37. Carboxylic acid reduction to aldehyde *via* a mixed anhydride

## 5.4. Reduction of nitriles

Among the unsaturated functions, nitrile can be reduced into either amine or aldehyde after the hydrolysis of the intermediate imine. The reduction in classical conditions under hydrogenation or with hydrides mainly affords the amine. Selective access to the aldehyde is more difficult as the intermediate imine is more reactive than the nitrile, requiring working at very low temperature. However, the reaction with hypophosphites led mainly to the formation of aldehydes. The reduction into amine was mentioned as the result of the formation of an undesired product observed by Johnstone during the cleavage of aromatic ethers with sodium hypophosphite and palladium on charcoal.<sup>19b</sup> Another example using Raney Nickel of this application described the reduction of nitrile into amine with a low yield of 22% (Scheme 38).<sup>138</sup>



Scheme 38. Nitrile reduction into amine

By contrast, the utilization of hypophosphites was studied for the reduction of nitriles into aldehydes. In the sixties, Staskun was the first to report this transformation with hypophosphites and Raney nickel as catalyst in a water/acetic acid/pyridine solution (Scheme 39).<sup>139</sup> These conditions were thereafter widely applied to the reduction of aliphatic,<sup>140</sup> aromatic<sup>141</sup> and heteroaromatic<sup>142</sup> nitriles. As an example, Gosh used these conditions to reach compound **119**, intermediate in the total synthesis of (+)-Jasplakinolide, isolated from a marine sponge.<sup>143</sup> The chemoselectivity of this reaction is well represented by the reduction of compound **120** into **121** for which no dehalogenation was observed.<sup>144</sup> The presence of a protic function did not affect the reaction. Moreover, the reduction could be performed in the presence of a heteroaromatic ring for example the transformation of **122** to **123** with 90% yield.<sup>145</sup>



Scheme 39. Reduction of nitriles into aldehydes

The seminal work of Staskun<sup>139</sup> is one of the most used reduction methods with hypophosphite derivatives for the direct transformation of a nitrile into an aldehyde. The power of this method was illustrated by Staskun in a review gathering synthetic applications until 2008.<sup>20</sup> In general, aldehydes are obtained with moderate to good yields with an excellent chemoselectivity towards alkene, alcohol, ester, amide, amine, sulfoxide and carboxylic acid, with the exception of nitro-derivatives which are reduced under these conditions. This peculiar reactivity was exploited by Hicks to directly form a pyrrole fused ring *via* a reductive cyclization (Scheme 40).<sup>146</sup> However, this reduction is very sensitive to steric hindrance. In fact, in the study of the synthesis of (+)-Pilocarpine, Rapoport reported the lack of reactivity of the (*Z*)-tert-butyl-3-cyano-2-ethyl-4-(1-methyl-5-imidazolyl)-3-butenoate **128** in comparison with the *E* isomer **126** which is efficiently reduced into compound **127** (Scheme 41).<sup>147</sup>



Scheme 40. Tandem reduction



Scheme 41. Steric limitations to the reduction of nitrile into aldehydes

The final treatment of the above reduction could be modified in order to avoid the formation of by-products due to the high reactivity of the aldehyde. So in 1973, Moffatt developed the use of N,N'-diphenylethylenediamine specifically with sugar chemistry to avoid the formation of furan derivatives.<sup>148</sup> In the same way, when tosylhydrazine was added in the reaction mixture the corresponding tosylhydrazone was isolated.<sup>149</sup> Finally, Hoye described the reductive amination of a nitrile with a chiral amine by performing the reaction under hydrogen.<sup>150</sup>

Another source of hypophosphite,  $NEt_3H^+$ . $H_2PO_2^-$ , was employed by Khai and Arcelli in 1989,<sup>129a</sup> displaying higher solubility in classical organic solvents (reactions performed in THF/EtOH) contrary to sodium hypophosphite (Scheme 42).



Scheme 42. Reduction of nitrile to aldehyde with  $Et_3NH^+H_2PO_2^-$ 

Under the above conditions, nitro-derivatives and oximes were reduced but esters, ketones and aldehydes were not.

#### 6. Deoxygenation

#### 6.1. Deoxygenation of carbon compounds

Deoxygenation of an organic substrate required hard conditions as formely described by Clemmensen and Wolff-Kishner. It is also a very important reaction for the valorization of bio-sourced starting materials. In fact, cellulose and hemicellulose, sugar, starch, lignin and organic tannins are poly-oxygenated substrates and require deoxygenation in order to obtain usable chemical building blocks. Deoxygenation appears to be a key reaction if fossil fuel starting material is to be replaced by renewable material.

## 6.1.1. Deoxygenation of phenols into arenes

Deoxygenation of phenols can be carried out in a stepwise process consisting of the synthesis of phenol ether with specific heterocycles or strong electron-withdrawing groups by classical alkylation, followed by the hydrogenolysis of the ether by a reducing agent (Scheme 43, (1)). For example, phenol ethers were completely converted into the corresponding arenes in the presence of a hydrogen donor (sodium phosphinite, cyclohexene or hydrazine) and a mass equivalent of 10% Pd/C catalyst. The other screened metals (Ru, Rh, Pt, Re) were completely ineffective. The reduction was strongly dependent on the nature of the R substituent of the ether. The best results were observed with a strong electron-withdrawing 2-phenyltetrazolyl substituent I (Scheme 43, (2)).<sup>151</sup>

A complete study was developed by the same group two years later. It focused specifically on the nature of 10 different electron-withdrawing substituents in order to more efficiently distribute the electronic density of the lone pair on the oxygen far from the phenol group. As possible substituents I, II, III and X displayed the same kinetics for the reduction, thus confirming the efficiency of the 2-phenyltetrazolyl group, but also opened the way not only to tetrazole scaffolds but also to triazole and triazinones (Scheme 43).



Scheme 43. Evaluation of different substituents on the reductive cleavage of ethers

As an example of the previously described general scheme, the 2-phenyltetrazolyl ether of 1naphthol was stirred in a mixture of benzene / ethanol / water (7 / 3 / 2) in the presence of a large amount of 10% Pd/C and sodium hypophosphite at 70 °C. In 45 min, naphthalene **137** was obtained with 70% yield (Scheme 44).



Scheme 44. Cleavage of ether to naphthalene

As the cost of the 5-phenyltetrazolyl group is a serious limitation to further industrialization, Johnstone investigated the synthesis of aryl ether by reaction with readily-available pseudosaccharin chloride **133** (obtained by chlorination of saccharin), and applied the hydrogenolysis methodology leading to oestratrienone **135** (Scheme 45).<sup>152</sup>



Scheme 45. Oestratrienone synthesis

More recently, the scope of the reaction was extended to 2-naphthalenemethanols, converted into their corresponding tetrazolyl or benzisothiazolyl derivatives, which were subjected to hydrogenolysis (Scheme 46). With tetrazolyl substituent (136), the 2-

methylnaphthalene **138** could be obtained in 1 h at 25°C with a very good yield of 83%, whereas the benzisothiazolyl substituent (**137**) behaved differently since a longer reaction time was required leading to only 42% of the same isolated compound.<sup>153</sup>



Scheme 46. Comparison of reactivity of tetrazolyl and benzisothiazolyl derivatives

Mechanistic studies of arene formation by heterogeneous reductive cleavage of aryloxytetrazolyl ethers have been realized through kinetic experiments highlighting the rapid consumption of the benzyl ether followed by a linear formation of the corresponding arene (the nature of the substituent on the aromatic ring has no consequence on the rate of reaction). As expected from previous observations, the complexation of the tetrazole part of the molecule to the catalyst surface is a determining step in the mechanism. Other parameters, such as pH and steric hindrance of the substrate can also have an influence on the kinetics.<sup>154</sup> The importance of biphasic solvents, in comparison to single phase solvents, was emphasized by controlling access of the substrate and reducing reagent to the catalyst.<sup>155</sup>

The reductive cleavage of the C-O bond in monoarylsulfate was described by Beletskaya with sodium hypophosphite (5 equiv) in basic medium (KOH, 3 equiv) catalyzed by PdCl<sub>2</sub> in water. After 6 h, complete conversion of **139** was observed and 95% GC yield was obtained (Scheme 47).<sup>156</sup> Although both the yield and ecological impact of this reaction appear much greater than the previous methods, the scope and limitations of the sulfate reductive cleavage have not, to our knowledge, been investigated.



Scheme 47. Reductive cleavage of monoaryl sulfate

# 6.1.2. Radical deoxygenation

Radical deoxygenation usually requires activation of the hydroxyl function such as thiocarbonyl followed by generation of an alkyl radical and a reductive step.<sup>157</sup> One of the

#### **Organic & Biomolecular Chemistry**

most known radical deoxygenations is the Barton-McCombie reaction where an *O*-alkylthiocarbonyl derivative is often associated with Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH as the reductant.<sup>158</sup> Due to regulatory requirements and the toxicity of tin, other alternatives have been developed including the use of silanes, phosphites, hypophosphorous acid and its organic salts.

In 1992, Barton and coworkers reported the deoxygenation of thionocarbonate and xanthate derivatives by hypophosphorous acid / tertiary amine (triethylamine, tri-*n*-butylamine, DABCO, *N*-ethylpiperidine) in the presence of AIBN in refluxing dioxane.<sup>77</sup> Anhydrous or wet conditions can be used with ether solvents (dioxane,<sup>77</sup> 1,2-dimethoxyethane<sup>78</sup>) and alcohols. Primary, secondary and tertiary alcohols were reduced in high yields to alkanes as well as bromides, iodides and primary amines *via* isonitriles. Alkenes were also reactive under these conditions.<sup>83,84</sup> An organic base was used to protect acid-sensitive functions. Acetal, sugar,<sup>77</sup> fluoride,<sup>78</sup> nucleoside derivatives<sup>78</sup> and *tert*-butyldimethylsilyl ether<sup>159</sup> and ester<sup>159</sup> were tolerated. For example, a kilogram-scale radical deoxygenation was optimized leading to the synthetic precursor 142 of ABT-229, an erythromycin derivative identified as a potent motilin receptor agonist<sup>160</sup> after a complete study investigating the effect of solvents, phasetransfer agents, inorganic hyposphosphite salts and radical initiators (Scheme 48). Other radical initiators are also efficient as described in the deoxygenation step involved in the synthesis of the JKLM ring fragment of ciguatoxin.<sup>161</sup> A similar experimental procedure was reported for the synthesis of triciferol in 10 steps for vitamin D2.<sup>159</sup> Later, the same research group focused on the extension of the reaction in water<sup>162</sup> and they observed competition with The addition of a phase transfer catalyst, S-methyldithiocarbonate hydrolysis. cetyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB), was necessary for the solubility, as well as watersoluble radical initiator 4,4'-azobis(4-cyanovaleric acid) (ABCVA).



Scheme 48. Radical deoxygenation

## 6.1.3. Reduction of carbonyl derivatives to methylenes

Phosphinic acid with a catalytic amount of  $I_2$  in acetic acid reduced diarylketones to methylenes in good yields.<sup>163</sup> One of the main advantages, in comparison to classical methods, is the tolerance towards aromatic halides: *p*-bromodiarylketone **145** was reduced to the corresponding methylene **146** with 97% yield (Scheme 49). Phenols were also well tolerated while double bonds were partially reduced.<sup>118</sup> Acetophenone was reduced with only 11% yield to ethylbenzene and 89% of the starting material was recovered.



Scheme 49. Reduction of ketone to methylene with  $H_3PO_2 / I_2$ 

Slightly modified conditions using NaI as the iodine source in HBr / water solvent have been used in the key step of the synthesis of a potential anticancer agent lonafarnib (Scheme 50).<sup>164</sup> The reaction performed on the mixture of regioisomers **147a** and **147b** led to the reduction of the aromatic nitro- and diaryl-ketone selectively without chloride or bromide hydrogenolysis or iodine exchange.



Scheme 50. Key reduction step using H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>3</sub> / H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>2</sub> / NaI in lonafarnib synthesis

Benzhydrols are also reduced by *in situ* generated HI from different sources. With the mixture of  $I_2$  / hypophosphorous acid, benzhydrols are reduced at lower temperature than diarylketones.<sup>165</sup> Other sources of iodine have been used with hypophosphorous acid such as HI<sup>166</sup> and NaI.<sup>167</sup> This method has also been used for the aromatization of highly conjugated benzhydrols in numerous publications<sup>168</sup> and patents.<sup>169</sup>

#### **Organic & Biomolecular Chemistry**

The reduction by hypophosphite as a hydride donor, reductive agent alone without addition of radical initiator or metal catalyst, has been pursued since at least 1910.<sup>170</sup> Different functions have been tested. However, only the triphenylcarbinol was reduced in triphenylmethane<sup>171</sup> with a good yield of 93% and recently exemplified.<sup>172</sup>

Currently, sodium hypophosphite has been used for the reduction of graphene oxide containing oxygenated functions such as carboxylic acids, epoxides, alcohols and ethers to graphene.<sup>173</sup> The reaction was carried out either in basic (pH = 11) or acidic conditions using HCl or H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> in the presence of a catalytic amount of SO<sub>2</sub>.

With palladium on carbon, deoxygenation was favored on the glyoxylic esters of indoles and pyrroles to the corresponding acetates (Scheme 51),<sup>174</sup> with better yields in dioxane than in 2-methyl-1-propanol The reaction suffers from strong limitation to activated ketoesters and ketoamides bearing an electron-rich aromatic. Otherwise, the ketone is selectively reduced to the corresponding alcohol, the major side product.



Scheme 51. Reduction of glyoxylic ester of indole into the corresponding acetate

These conditions were applied to the synthesis of potentially biologically-active molecules bearing an indole or/and pyrrole ring.<sup>175</sup> Polar functions such as phenol and amide were tolerated while benzyl protecting groups may be cleaved.<sup>88,89</sup>

General conditions to selectively reduce aromatic ketones to either alcohols or alkanes were developed using hypophosphites with palladium on carbon (Scheme 52).<sup>176</sup> Compared to the previous conditions described, the scope was broadened allowing the reduction of aromatic ketones. Aliphatic ketones remained unreactive. The conditions tolerated the presence of ester, ether and CF<sub>3</sub>. In addition, protic functions such as OH, NH<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>H did not inhibit the reaction. Other functions such as alkene, halide, and aromatic nitrile and nitro groups were partially or completely reduced.
**Drganic & Biomolecular Chemistry Accepted Manuscript** 



Scheme 52. Commutative reduction of ketones either to alkanes or alcohols

The key parameters for the selectivity towards alkanes are the use of acidic conditions, hydrophobic solvent, high palladium loading and temperature. Selectivity to the alcohol was reached using a phase transfer catalyst (TBAC, 7 mol %), a palladium loading of 2.5 mol %.

### 6.2. Deoxygenation of sulfur compounds

Dimethylsulfoxide was reduced into dimethylsulfide with 98.5% yield by hypophosphorous acid catalyzed by diselenide.<sup>90</sup>

In 2005, Meshram reported the reduction of sulfoxides into sulfides with sodium hypophosphite in the presence of iron (II) sulfate supported on aluminum oxide under microwave (Scheme 53).<sup>177</sup> Allylic or conjugated double bonds, nitro groups and chlorides were not modified under these conditions.



6.3. Deoxygenation of nitrogen compounds

### 6.3.1. Reduction of nitro derivatives

6.3.1.1. Amine synthesis

To the best of our knowledge, Mailhe and Murat<sup>178</sup> were the first to report the reduction of the nitro group in the presence of sodium hypophosphite and copper (Scheme 54). The authors reported the formation of copper in sponge form, also called Wurtz hydride, obtained *in situ* by the reaction between sodium hypophosphite and copper sulfate in ethanol. These conditions allowed the preparation of amines and anilines. The halides were not reduced and phenol did not impair the reaction.

36



Scheme 54. Reduction of nitro by copper and sodium hypophosphite

A few publications report the reduction of nitro aromatic derivatives into anilines using Raney nickel as catalyst and either sodium hypophosphite or triethylammonium phosphinate as reductant. For example, 3-nitro-4-diethylaminocoumarin was efficiently reduced into 3-amino-4-diethylaminocoumarin<sup>179</sup> by sodium hypophosphite in the presence of nickel. These conditions were not developed because of the presence of a difficult-to-separate impurity of unidentified structure.

A recent study by Meshram in 2000<sup>180</sup> reported the solvent-free reduction of aromatic nitro derivatives in the presence of sodium hypophosphite and more than a stoichiometric quantity of iron sulfate under microwave irradiation (Scheme 55). The main advantage of these conditions is the chemoselectivity: halide, nitrile, ketone, amide, carboxylic acid, aniline and phenol are well tolerated. For example, **158** is reduced selectively into **159** without reduction of the nitrile and chloride function in 79% yield. However, even if the price and toxicity of iron sulfate are low, its stoichiometric use makes it unacceptable for an industrial purpose.



Scheme 55. Microwaves promoted reduction of substituted nitrobenzene

Until now, the metal catalyst the most used to reduce nitro-derivatives into amines was palladium, which was more efficient than platinum or rhodium with hypophosphorous acid or phosphorous acid.<sup>181</sup> Johnstone reported the use of palladium on charcoal with hypophosphite derivatives.<sup>181</sup> Hypophosphorous acid in methanol or sodium hypophosphite in THF reduced the nitro compounds. The chemoselectivity was good and the presence of acidic conditions did not affect the conversion (side product rising from de-halogenation was not observed) (Scheme 56).



Scheme 56. Nitro aromatic reduction catalyzed by Pd/C

The interest of this method was illustrated through the reduction of dinitrotryptophan **164** (Scheme 57).<sup>182</sup> Classical hydrogenation conditions (Pd/C, 40-50 psi) afforded a complex mixture according to the authors. When the reduction was carried out with formic acid and Pd/C at room temperature only the product of reduction of the nitro on the indole ring **165** was observed. When the reaction was pushed to 100 °C, a complex mixture was obtained. The authors hypothesized that formic acid was not acidic enough to protonate the formed amine which would consequently react with the ester. Indeed, when the reaction was run in TFA, formic acid and water mixture, amine **166** resulting from the reduction of both nitro was formed cleanly in 60-70% yields. Comparable results were observed when the reduction of compound **164** was performed in phosphorous acid with Pd/C.



Scheme 57. Reduction of aromatic and aliphatic nitro catalyzed by Pd/C

The Johnstone conditions<sup>181</sup> were applied to the reduction of different target molecules.<sup>183</sup> Under the developed conditions, the nitro reduction allowed subsequent cyclisation with ketone in **167** affording either benzoxazine **168** or dihydrobenzoxazine **169** depending on the loading of the palladium catalyst and quantity of NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>2</sub> (Scheme 58).<sup>184</sup> Page 38 of 55



Scheme 58. Nitro aromatic reduction catalyzed by Pd/C

Access to non-natural tryptamines was recently reported through the reduction of aliphatic nitro groups to amines in the presence of a biphasic solvent system (2-MeTHF/H<sub>2</sub>O) with a mixture of sodium hypophosphite / phosphinic acid / palladium on carbon. <sup>185</sup> These conditions were generally applied on aliphatic and aromatic nitro compounds.

### 6.3.1.2. Hydroxylamine synthesis and Bamberger rearrangement

In 1978, Johnstone reported the reduction of aromatic nitro **170** to hydroxylamine **171** with phosphinic acid or its sodium salt with a palladium on charcoal or rhodium catalyst in a two-phase solvent system, THF/water (Scheme 59).<sup>186</sup>



Scheme 59. Reduction of aromatic nitro to hydroxylamine

These conditions were selective and led to the formation of hydroxylamine<sup>187</sup> except when the aromatic core is substituted by the following groups: 4-isopropyl-3-methyl-, 4-methyl-, 4-methoxy-, or 2,5-dimethoxy-. With these strong electron-donating groups, the corresponding anilines were obtained. This method has found several applications in syntheses.<sup>188</sup> For example, partial reduction of a nitro group on bis *N*-substituted triazoles **172**, with concomitant cyclization afforded the bis(*N*-hydroxyindole) **173** in a modest 34% yield (Scheme 60).<sup>189</sup> The smooth conditions with sodium hypophosphite prevented the overreduction of the nitro group, which often generated difficulty during the purification step due to large amounts of *N*-H indole side products.<sup>190</sup>



Scheme 60. Reduction of nitro to hydroxylamine followed by cyclisation

The possibility to selectively prepare hydroxylamine was exploited by Sasson in 1994 with the Pd/C catalyzed Bamberger rearrangement of nitrobenzene **174** to *para*-aminophenol **175**.<sup>191</sup> Phosphinic acid acts both as hydrogen donor and strong acid (Scheme 61). Aniline was observed as a by-product as well as bis-(4-amino-phenyl) ether 2% and *ortho*-aminophenol 1%.



Scheme 61. Bamberger rearrangement

# 6.3.1.3. Reduction of nitroalkenes

In 1986, Kabalka described the reduction of unsaturated nitro compounds to oximes in the presence of palladium on charcoal with sodium hypophosphite (Scheme 62).<sup>192</sup> Partial dehydrobromination was observed under these conditions. This transformation was later employed in a multistep synthesis to prepare dimethylhistamine in 1989 by Davey.<sup>193</sup> The corresponding ketoxime was obtained in 83% yield.



Scheme 62. Reduction of unsaturated nitro into oxime

When the palladium is substituted by Raney nickel, a ketone is formed (Scheme 63).<sup>194</sup> The intermediate oxime is transformed in the corresponding carbonyl derivative, also referred to as the Nef reaction.<sup>195</sup>



Scheme 63. Reduction of unsaturated nitro derivatives into carbonyl compounds

### 6.3.2. Reduction of oximes

In 1966, Staskun reported the reduction of oximes to amines using sodium hypophosphite monohydrate in the presence of Raney nickel and sodium hydroxide in ethanol (Scheme 64).<sup>196</sup>



Scheme 64. Oxime reduction

These conditions allowed the formation of the corresponding amines with moderate to good yields (52-89%) even in the presence of bromo substituent. In this paper, the author also reported the de-oximation to the carbonyl compound when the oxime was heated at reflux in alkaline solution with Raney nickel.

# 6.3.3. Reduction of N-oxides

Boyer reported the reduction of aromatic and aliphatic *N*-oxides by sodium hypophosphite with Pd/C under basic conditions (Scheme 65).<sup>17</sup> Quinoline and morpholine *N*-oxides were efficiently reduced to amines in 83 and 90% yield, respectively. This method, compared to the deoxygenation of *N*-oxides with PPh<sub>3</sub>, avoids the formation of triphenylphosphine oxide which is difficult to remove from the crude mixture. These conditions also allowed the reduction of alkylazide to amine.



Scheme 65. Reduction of N-oxides

*N*-Oxides were selectively reduced in acidic conditions by Kaczmarek, in the presence of ketones, esters, nitriles or bromides in high yields (up to 71%).<sup>197</sup> The reaction was carried out in acetic acid without additional water than the one present in sodium hypophosphite salt.

# 7. Conclusion

Reductive properties of hypophosphite derivatives have been known for more than a century but the number of publications dedicated to their application in organic synthesis is relatively small (< 300). Its major application is still limited to the reduction of metal salts, for example for nickel or chromium plating. In our opinion, this short review illustrates the great potential of hypophosphite derivatives. The advantages and disadvantages can be classified as follows in Table 4.

| Advantages   | Disadvantages  |
|--|--|
|  |  |
| Stable, not dangerous                                | Low E factor   |
| Low toxicity of the reagent                          | One hydrogen per 106 g/mol (for  |
| Low toxicity of the by-product                       | NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>2</sub> .H <sub>2</sub> O)                                  |
| Available on a large scale at a relatively low price | Two hydrides with two different reactivities;<br>most of the time only one is useful |
| Usable with phase transfer catalysts                 | Mostly insoluble in organic solvents   |
| Able to reduce metal salts                           | Little data available on the mechanism and side reactions are often not known        |
| Can be used in both acidic and basic conditions      | Difficult to control the pH during the reaction                                      |

Table 4. Advantages and disadvantages of hypophosphite derivatives

It has already been shown that such non-hazardous reducing agents are, in various conditions, able to dehalogenate, deoxygenate, and desulfurize with good yields, and to selectively reduce CC, CN and CO multiple bonds as well as nitro derivatives. In only a few cases, the original properties of such reagents allow development on an industrial scale.

Some asymmetric reductions were performed with success using known organometallic complexes. One of the reasons to be optimistic about the development of these reagents lies in the large variety of conditions and catalysts which can be used with hypophosphites. This hydride donor could also be used with or without catalyst. Reactions could be performed either *via* radical, ionic or transition metal catalyzed mechanism. Reduction using hypophosphites could be carried out either in neutral condition or in the presence of strong

acids or with strong bases. It is possible to use polar or non-polar organic solvents or water as well.

Finally, the selectivity can be modified by using the appropriate heterogeneous or homogeneous catalyst. If only a few transition metals have been tested until now, the potential seems very large. This is obviously of great importance if we consider the recent numerous applications found with silicon hydrides such as PMHS and TMDS using a large panel of different catalysts. The future is even more favorable when considering the relatively low cost of this type of reagent.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> a) P. N. Rylander, in *Catalytic hydrogenation in organic syntheses*, Academic Press: London, 1979; b) S. Nishimura, in *Handbook of heterogeneous catalytic hydrogenation for organic synthesis*, John Wiley & Sons: New York, 2001.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> a) D. K. Dutta, in *Ruthenium: Properties, Production and Applications*; D. B. Watson, Ed.; Nova Science publishers, Inc., 2011; pp 221–248; b) R. Malacea, R. Poli and E. Manoury, *Coord. Chem. Rev.*, 2010, **254**, 729–752.

<sup>3. &</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel\_prizes/chemistry/laureates/1979/

<sup>4. &</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> a) H. C. Brown and S. Krishnamurthy, *Tetrahedron*, 1979, **35**, 567–607; b) J. Seyden-Penne, in *Reduction by the Alumino- and Borohydrides in Organic Synthesis*; 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed.; Wiley-VCH: New York, 1997; c) M. Hudlický, in *Reductions in Organic Chemistry*, John Wiley & Sons: Chichester, 1984.

<sup>5. &</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> J. Magano and J. R. Dunetz, Org. Process Res. Dev., 2012, 16, 1156–1184.

<sup>6. &</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Internal document Rohm and Haas: http://www.dow.com/assets/attachments/industry/pharma\_medical/chemical\_reagents/ reducing agents/sodium borohydride digest.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> http://www.marketreportschina.com/sodium-borohydride-market-in-china-edition-2

<sup>8. &</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> http://datasheets.scbt.com/sc-215866.pdf

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> a) P. T. Anastas and J. C. Warner, in *Green Chemistry: Theory and Practice*, Oxford University Press: New York, 1998; b) P. Tundo, P. T. Anastas, D. StC. Black, J. Breen, T. Collins, S. Memoli, J. Miyamoto, M. Polyakoff and W. Tumas *Pure Appl. Chem.*, 2000, **72**, 1207–1228.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> G. L. Larson and J. L. Fry, in *Ionic and Organometallic-Catalyzed Organosilane Reductions*, John Wiley & Sons, Inc: Hoboken, NJ, 2009.

<sup>11. &</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> S. C. Berk and S. L. Buchwald, J. Org. Chem., 1993, **58**, 3221–3221.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> S. Laval, L. Pehlivan, W. Dayoub, E. Métay and M. Lemaire, 1,1,3,3-Tetramethyldisiloxane, e-EROS, DOI : 10.1002/047084289X.rn01391, 2012. [Cu], [Bi], [Al] a) Y.-J. Zhang, W. Dayoub, G.-R. Chen and M. Lemaire, Green Chem., 2011, 13, 2737–2742; b) Y.-J. Zhang, W. Dayoub, G.-R. Chen and M. Lemaire, Eur. J. Org. Chem., 2012, 1960–1966; [Mo], [V] c) L. Pehlivan, E. Métay, S. Laval, W. Dayoub, D. Delbrayelle, G. Mignani and M. Lemaire, Eur. J. Org. Chem., 2011, 7400–7406; [Pd] d) Y. Shi, W. Dayoub, G.-R. Chen and M. Lemaire, Tetrahedron Lett., 2011, 52, 1281–1283; e) L. Pehlivan, E. Métay, O. Boyron, P. Demonchaux, G. Mignani, M. Lemaire, Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2011, 4687–4692; [Fe] f) L. Pehlivan, E. Métay, S. Laval, W. Dayoub, P. Demonchaux, G. Mignani, M. Lemaire, Tetrahedron Lett. 2010, 51, 1939–1941; g) L. Pehlivan, E. Métay, S. Laval, W. Dayoub, P. Demonchaux, G. Mignani and M. Lemaire, Tetrahedron, 2011, 67, 1971–1976; [In] h)

L. Pehlivan, E. Métay, D. Delbrayelle, G. Mignani and M. Lemaire, *Eur. J. Org. Chem.*, 2012, 4689–4693; i) L. Pehlivan, E. Métay, D. Delbrayelle, G. Mignani and M. Lemaire, *Tetrahedron*, 2012, **68**, 3151–3155; [Ti] j) S. Laval, W. Dayoub, L. Pehlivan, E. Métay, A. Favre-Réguillon, D. Delbrayelle, G. Mignani and M. Lemaire, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2011, **52**, 4072–4075; k) S. Laval, W. Dayoub, A. Favre-Réguillon, P. Demonchaux, G. Mignani and M. Lemaire, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2010, **51**, 2092–2094; l) M. Berthod, A. Favre-Réguillon, J. Mohamad, G. Mignani, G. Docherty and M. Lemaire, *Synlett*, 2007, 1545–1548; m) C. Petit, A. Favre-Réguillon, B. Albela, L. Bonneviot, G. Mignani and M. Lemaire, *Organometallics*, 2009, **28**, 6379–6382; n) C. Petit, E. Poli, A. Favre-Réguillon, L. Khrouz, S. Denis-Quanquin, L. Bonneviot, G. Mignani and M. Lemaire, *Organometallics*, 09, **28**, 6379–6382; n) C. Petit, E. Poli, A. Favre-Réguillon, L. Khrouz, S. Denis-Quanquin, L. Bonneviot, G. Mignani and M. Lemaire, *Organometallics*, 09, **28**, 6379–6382; n) C. Petit, E. Poli, A. Favre-Réguillon, L. Khrouz, S. Denis-Quanquin, L. Bonneviot, G. Mignani and M. Lemaire, *ACS Catal.*, 2013, **3**, 1431–1438; o) S. Laval, W. Dayoub, L. Pehlivan, E. Métay, A. Favre-Reguillon, D. Delbrayelle, G. Mignani and M. Lemaire, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2014, **55**, 23–26.

- <sup>13</sup> a) W. Eschweiler, *Ber.*, 1905, **38**, 880–887; b) H. T. Clarke, H. B. Gillespie and S. Z. Weisshaus, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 1933, **55**, 4571–4587.
- <sup>14</sup> a) A. F. Abdel-Magid and S. J. Mehrman, Org. Proc. Res. Dev., 2006, 10, 971–1031; b) R. O. Hutchins, in *Reduction of C=N to CHNH by Metal Hydrides* In Comprehensive Organic Synthesis; B. N. Trost, I. Fleming, Eds.; Pergamon Press: New York, 1991; Vol. 8, p 47.
- <sup>15</sup> a) G. Zassinovich, G. Mestroni and S. Gladiali *Chem. Rev.*, 1992, **92**, 1051–1069; b)
   R. Noyori and S. Hashiguchi, *Acc. Chem. Res.*, 1997, **30**, 97–102; c) S. Gladiali and E.
   Alberico, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2006, 35, 226–236; d) J. Václavík, P. Kačer, M. Kuzma and L. Červený, *Molecules*, 2011, **16**, 5460–5495.
- 16. <sup>16</sup> S. Moret, P. J. Dyson and G. Laurenczy, *Nat. Commun.*, 2014, **5**, doi:10.1038/ncomms5017.
- 17. <sup>17</sup> S. K. Boyer, J. Bach, J. McKenna and E. Jagdmann Jr, *J. Org. Chem.*, 1985, **50**, 3408–3411.
- <sup>18</sup> D. V. Davydov and I. P. Beletskaya, *Russ. Chem. Bull.*, 1993, **42**, 575–577.
- <sup>19</sup> a) G. Brieger and T. J. Nestrick, *Chem. Rev.*, 1974, **74**, 567–580; b) R. A. W. Johnstone, A. H. Wilby and I. D. Entwistle *Chem. Rev.*, 1985, **85**, 129–170.
- <sup>20</sup> B. Staskun and T. S. Van Es, *Afr. J. Chem.*, 2008, **61**, 114–156.
- 21. <sup>21</sup> a) D. E. C. Corbridge, in *Phosphorus: An outline of its chemistry*, Biochemistry and Technology; 5<sup>th</sup> Ed.; Elsevier, 1995; pp 245–252; b) N. N. Greenwood and A. Earnshaw, in *Chemistry of the elements*; 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed.; Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford, 1997; pp 512–513.
- 22. <sup>22</sup> D. R. Lide, in *Handbook of Chemistry and Physics*; 84<sup>th</sup> Ed.; CRC Press, 2004.
- <sup>23</sup> N. G. Connelly, T. Damhus, R. M. Hartshorn and A. T. Hutton, in *Nomenclature of Inorganic Chemistry* IUPAC Recommendations 2005; RSC Publishing, 2005; pp 128–129.
- 24. <sup>24</sup> Kirk-Othmer, in *Encyclopedia of Chemical Technology*; 4<sup>th</sup> Ed.; Wiley: New York, 1999; Vol. 8, p 741.
- 25. <sup>25</sup> a) K. Hari Krishnan, S. John, K. N. Srinivasan, J. Praveen, M. Ganesan and P. M. Kavimani, *Metall. Mater. Trans. A*, 2006, **37**, 1917–1926; b) N. Nwosu, A. Davidson, C. Hindle and M. Barker, *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 2012, **51**, 5635–5644.
- 26. <sup>26</sup> G. Shangguan, F. Xing, X. Qu, J. Mao, D. Zhao, X. Zhao and J. Ren, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 2005, **15**, 2962–2965.

- <sup>27</sup> a) S. Heimann, M. Hołyńska and S. Dehnen, *Chem. Commun.*, 2011, 47, 1881–1883; b) R. Gill, M. Mazhar and M. Siddiq, *Polym. Int.*, 2010, 59, 1598–1605; c) S. Mahboob, R. Gill, M. Mazhar, G. Kociok-Köhn and K. C. Molloy, *Monatsh. Chem.*, 2008, 139, 1019–1024.
- 28. <sup>28</sup> I. Jószai and F. Joó, *React. Kinet. Catal. Lett.*, 2007, **91**, 361–368.
- <sup>29</sup> a) S. Montel, C. Midrier, J.-N. Volle, R. Braun, K. Haaf, L. Willms, J.-L. Pirat and D. Virieux, *Eur. J. Org. Chem.*, 2012, 3237–3248; b) O. Dubert, A. Gautier, E. Condamine and S. R. Piettre, *Org. Lett.*, 2002, 4, 359–362.
- <sup>30</sup> E. Soulier, J.-J. Yaouanc, P. Laurent, H. des Abbayes and J.-C. Clément, *Eur. J. Org. Chem.*, 2000, 3497–3503.
- a) V. I. Yudelevich, L. B. Sokolov and B. I. Ionin, *Russ. Chem. Rev.*, 1980, 49, 46–58 translated from *Usp. Khim.*, 1980, 49, 92–117; b) A. W. Frank, *Chem. Rev.*, 1961, 61, 389–424.
- 32. <sup>32</sup> S. Deprèle and J.-L. Montchamp, J. Org. Chem., 2001, **66**, 6745–6755.
- <sup>33</sup> a) C. Queffélec, M. Petit, P. Janvier, D. A. Knight and B. Bujoli, *Chem. Rev.*, 2012, 112, 3777–3807; b) C. S. Demmer, N. Krogsgaard-Larsen and L. Bunch, *Chem. Rev.*, 2011, 111, 7981–8006.
- <sup>34</sup> J.-L. Montchamp, Acc. Chem. Res., 2014, **47**, 77–87.
- 35. <sup>35</sup> K. Bravo-Altamirano, L. Coudray, E. L. Deal and J.-L. Montchamp, *Org. Biomol. Chem.*, 2010, **8**, 5541–5551.
- <sup>36</sup> a) M. G. Denoux, R. Tregre and G. Mineo, U.S. Patent 0 132 712, 2008; b) G. Mineo and M. G. Denoux, U.S. Patent 5 874 643, 1999
- <sup>37</sup> a) L. A. M. Da Silva, J. M. Da Silva, A. I. Da Silva and A. S. Porto Junior, WO 2012/083196; b) W. Zheng, K. B. McAuley, E. K. Marchildon and K. Z. Yao, *Can. J. Chem. Eng.*, 2007, **85**, 180–187.
- <sup>38</sup> A. K. Mikitaev, A. Y. Bedanokov and M. A. Mikitaev, *Russ. J. Gen. Chem.*, 2009, **79**, 1998–2005.
- <sup>39</sup> B. A. Lysek, R. W. Ables, WO 99/61522.
- <sup>40</sup> a) F. De Campo, A. Murillo, J. Li and T. Zhang, WO 2011/047511; b) G. Tang, X. Wang, W. Xing, P. Zhang, B. Wang, N. Hong, W. Yang, Y. Hu and L. Song, *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 2012, **51**, 12009–12016; c) G. Tang, X. Huang, H. Ding, X. Wang, S. Jiang, K. Zhou, B. Wang, W. Yang and Y. Hu, *RSC Adv.*, 2014, **4**, 8985–8993.
- <sup>41</sup> a) F. Lessan, M. Montazer and M. B. Moghadam, *Thermochim. Acta*, 2011, **520**, 48–54; b)V. A. Dehabadi, H.-J. Buschmann and J. S. Gutmann, *Fire Mater.*, 2014, **38**, 166–173.
- <sup>42</sup> a) J. F. Jadlocki and J. S. Thompson, U.S. Patent 4 282 260, 1981; b) M. H. Eskandari, S. Hosseinpour, G. Mesbahi and S. Shekarforoush, *Food Sci. Nutr.* 2013, 1, 392–401.
- 43. <sup>43</sup> European agency for the evaluation of medicinal products (Veterinary Medicine Evaluation Unit) 1998. Committee for Veterinary Medicinal Products. Summary report. EMEA/MRL/446/98-FINAL
- 44. <sup>44</sup>U. Braun and W. Jehle, *Vet. J.*, 2007, **173**, 379–383.
- 45. <sup>45</sup> D. S. Robertson, *Med. Hypotheses*, 2006, **66**, 439–440.
- 46. <sup>46</sup> http://echa.europa.eu/fr/
- 47. <sup>47</sup> http://www.cecachemicals.com/en/media/news/Sodium-Hypophosphite-REACH-registration-dossier-filed-by-FEBEX-accepted-by-ECHA/
- 48. <sup>48</sup> L. Tovazhnyansky, P. Kapustenko, L. Ulyev, S. Boldyryev and O. Arsenyeva, *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, 2010, **30**, 2306–2314.

- <sup>49</sup> a) D. Zobel, German Patent 2006 632, 1971; b) D. C. Annarelli and R. E. Hall, U.S. Patent 4 379 132, 1983.
- <sup>50</sup> J. Thomsen, Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges., 1874, 7, 994–995.
- 51. <sup>51</sup> a) R. Z. Klement, Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem., 1949, 260, 267; b) G. Brauer, in Handbook of Preparative Inorganic Chemistry; 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed.; Acad. Press Inc.: London, 1972; Vol. 1, pp 555–557.
- <sup>52</sup> H. H. Bricard, Fr. Patent 1 218 063, 1960.
- 53. <sup>53</sup> a) J. O. Saunders, in Sodium Hypophosphite In Encyclopedia of Reagents for Organic Chemistry; Paquette; L. A., Ed.; Wiley, 1995; Vol. 7, p 4587; b) V. V. Popik, in Hypophosphorous Acid In Encyclopedia of Reagents for Organic Chemistry; Paquette, L. A., Ed.; Wiley, 1995; Vol. 4, pp 2790–2792; c) G. T. Shechkov, I. A. Pevneva and O. A. Meshkova, Russ. J. Appl. Chem., 2003, 76, 1354–1355.
- 54. <sup>54</sup> V. Aliev, R. Dolinina and S. C. R. Gadjiev, C. R. Acad. Sci. II, 1990, **310**, 1191– 1194.
- 55. <sup>55</sup> J. A. Roborgh, *Pharmaceutisch Weekblad*, 1927, **64**, 1205–1209.
- <sup>56</sup> A. W. Frazier and K. R. Waerstad, *Fert. Res.*, 1992, **32**, 161–168.
- 57. <sup>57</sup> P. L. Dulong, Ann. Chim. Phys., 1816, 2, 141–150.
- <sup>58</sup> J. H. Clark, J. Emsley and T. B. Middleton, *J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans.*, 1979, 1693–1696.
- <sup>59</sup> S. R. Palit, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1947, **69**, 3120–3129.
- <sup>60</sup> A. Wurtz, Ann. Chim. Phys., 1846, **16**, 190–231.
- 61. <sup>61</sup> G. Hanrahan, T. M. Salmassi, C. S. Khachikian and K. L. Foster, *Talanta*, 2005, **66**, 435–444.
- <sup>62</sup> a) U.S. Geological Survey, Mineral Commodity Summaries, February 2014: http://minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/mcs/2014/mcs2014.pdf;
   b) Kirk-Othmer Encyclopedia of Chemical technology; 4<sup>th</sup> Ed.; Wiley: New York, 1999; Vol. 18
- 63. <sup>63</sup> J. J. Westrick, J. W. Mello and R. F. Thomas, *J. Am. Water Works Assoc.*, 1984, **76**, 52–59.
- <sup>64</sup> a) S. K. Boyer and J. McKenna, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1985, 26, 3677–3680; b) S. K. Boyer, U.S. Patent 4 618 686, 1986.
- 65. <sup>65</sup> http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp43.pdf
- 66. <sup>66</sup> C.-M. Hu and M.-H. Tu, J. Fluorine Chem., 1991, **55**, 101–103.
- 67. <sup>67</sup> a) H. Hidaka, A. Saitou, H. Honjou, K. Hosoda, M. Moriya and N. Serpone, J. Hazard. Mater., 2007, 148, 22–28; b) X. Liu, Q. Zhang, G. Zhang and R. Wang, Chemosphere, 2008, 72, 1655–1658.
- <sup>68</sup> I. Pri-Bar and B. R. James, J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem., 2007, **264**, 135–139.
- <sup>69</sup> a) C. A. Marques, M. Selva and P. Tundo, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1, 1993, 529–533; b) M. Oba, K. Kojima, M. Endo, H. Sano and K. Nishiyama, Green Chem. Lett. Rev., 2013, 6, 233–236.
- <sup>70</sup> a) P. M. Petersen, W. Wu, E. E. Fenlon, S. Kim and S. C. Zimmerman, *Bioorg. Med. Chem.*, 1996, 4, 1107–1112; b) V. R. Tarur, D. G. Sathe, H. K. Mondkar, R. G. Bhopalkar and S. D. Patil, US 2005/159605;c) S. S. Nadkarni, H. M. Patel and N. R. Parekh, WO 2005/080333.
- <sup>71</sup> R. Giles and T. C. Walsgrove, Patent WO 91/16306.
- 72. <sup>72</sup> M. Nitta, T. Sakakida, H. Miyabara, H. Yamamoto and S.-I. Naya, Org. Biomol. Chem., 2005, **3**, 638–644.
- <sup>73</sup> G. Sauer, J. Heindl and H. Wachtel, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1988, **29**, 6425–6428.
- 74. <sup>74</sup> A. P. Borase, N. S. Patel, S. Kilaru and R. Thennati, EP 1 486 492, 2004.
- 75. <sup>75</sup> A. H. Blatt, N. Gross and E. W. Tristram, J. Org. Chem., 1957, 22, 1588–1590.

- <sup>76</sup> L. Wen and S. C. Rasmussen, J. Chem. Crystallogr., 2007, **37**, 387–398.
- 77. <sup>77</sup> D. H. R. Barton, D. O. Jang and J. Cs. Jaszberenyi, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1992, **33**, 5709–5712.
- <sup>78</sup> S. Takamatsu, S. Katamaya, N. Hirose, M. Naito and K. Izawa, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2001, **42**, 7605–7608.
- <sup>79</sup> V. T. Perchyonok, K. L. Tuck, S. J. Langfordand M. W. Hearn, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2008, **49**, 4777–4779.
- <sup>80</sup> T.-A. Lee and K.-C. Kwon, WO 2006/126790.
- 81. <sup>81</sup> A. H. Blatt and N. Gross, J. Org. Chem., 1957, **22**, 1046–1049.
- <sup>82</sup> a) D. O. Jang, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1996, **37**, 5367–5368; b) H. Nambu, A. H. Alinejad, K. Hata, H. Fujioka and Y. Kita, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2004, **45**, 8927–8929; c) C. H. Kim, K. P. Jang, S. Y. Choi, Y. K. Chung and E. Lee, *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 2008, **47**, 4009–4011.
- <sup>83</sup> a) S. R. Graham, J. A. Murphy and D. Coates, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1999, 40, 2415–2416C; b) H. Nambu, G. Anilkumar, M. Matsugi and Y. Kita, *Tetrahedron*, 2003, 59, 77–85; c) Chevet, T. Jackson, B. Santry and A. Routledge, *Synlett*, 2005, 477–480; d) E. H. Lee, D. H. Cho, A. Satyender and D. O. Jang, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2011, 52, 6927–6929.
- <sup>84</sup> a) S. Caddick, D. Hamza, D. B. Judd, M. T. Reich, S. N. Wadman and J. D. Wilden, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2004, **45**, 2363–2366; b) D. H. Cho and D. O. Jang, *Chem. Commun.* 2006, 5045–5047; c) C. G. Franscisco, C. C. Gonzalez, A. J. Herrera, N. R. Paz and E. Suárez, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2006, **47**, 9057–9060.
- 85. <sup>85</sup> V. Cerè, F. Peri and S. Pollicino, J. Org. Chem., 1997, **62**, 8572–8574.
- <sup>86</sup> R. Sala, G. Doria, C. Passarotti, *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1984, **25**, 4565–4568.
- 87. <sup>87</sup> J. Li, S. Wang, G. A. Crispino, K. Tenhuisen, A. Singh and J. A. Grosso, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2003, **44**, 4041–4043.
- <sup>88</sup> a) S. E. Conner, J. A. Knobelsdorg, N. B. Mantlo, D. R. Mayhugh, X. Wang, G. Zhu and J. M. Schkeryantz, WO 2004/063190; b) S. E. Conner, L. S. Gossett, J. E. Green, W. D. Jr. Jones, N. B. Mantlo, D. P. Matthews, D. R. Mayhugh, D. L. Smith, J. A. Vance, X. Wang, A. M. Warshawsky, L. L. Jr. Winneroski, Y. Xu and G. Zhu, WO 2004/073606; c) S. Conner, J. A. Knobelsdorg, N. B. Mantlo, D. R. Mayhugh, X. Wang, G. Zhu, J. M. Schkeryantz and P.-Y. Michellys, WO 2004/092131.
- <sup>89</sup> M. G. Bell, M. J. Genin, P. A. Lander, L. S. Stelzer, R. A. Doti, F. J. Agejas-Chicharro, A. B. Bueno Melendo, P. R. Manninen, J. M. Ochoada, Q. Shen, A. M. Warshawsky, T. Ma and R. E. Stites, WO 2007/092751.
- <sup>90</sup> W. H. H. Günther, J. Org. Chem., 1966, **31**, 1202–1205.
- 91. <sup>91</sup> W. G. Salmond, M. A. Barta, A. M. Cain and M. C. Sobala, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1977, **18**, 1683–1686.
- <sup>92</sup> a) J. V. Comasseto and N. Petragnani, J. Organomet. Chem., 1978, 152, 295–304;
  b) M. Clarembeau, A. Cravador, W. Dumont, L. Hevesi, A. Krief, J. Lucchetti and D. Van Ende, *Tetrahedron*, 1985, 41, 4793–4812.
- <sup>93</sup> S. Thurow, R. Webber, G. Perin, E. J. Lenardão and D. Alves, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2013, **54**, 3215–3218.
- 94. <sup>94</sup> P. D. Klemmensen, WO 2005/023774.
- <sup>95</sup> a) J. Boivin, R. Jrad, S. Juge and V. T. Nguyen, Org. Lett., 2003, 5, 1645–1648; b)
   R. Heng and S. Z. Zard, Org. Biomol. Chem., 2011, 9, 3396–3404.
- <sup>96</sup> C. McMaster, R. N. Bream and R. S. Grainger, *Org. Biomol. Chem.*, 2012, **10**, 4752–4758.

- 97. <sup>97</sup> a) K. Nishide, Y. Shigeta, K. Obata, T. Inoue and M. Node, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1996, **37**, 2271–2274; b) M. Node, K. Nishide, Y. Shigeta, K. Obata, H. Shiraki and H. Kunishige, *Tetrahedron*, 1997, **53**, 12883–12894.
- <sup>98</sup> a) M. Node, K. Nishide, Y. Shigeta, H. Shiraki and K. Obata, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2000, **122**, 1927–1936; b) D. E. Ward and V. Jheengut, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2004, **45**, 8347–8350; c) M. Ozeki, D. Hashimoto, K. Nishide, T. Kajimoto and M. Node, *Tetrahedron: Asymm.*, 2005, **16**, 1663–1671; d) D. E. Ward, H. M. Gillis, O. T. Akinnusi, M. A. Rasheed, K. Saravanan and P. K. Sasmal, *Org. Lett.*, 2006, **8**, 2631–2634; e) N. K. Rana and V. K. Singh, *Org. Lett.*, 2011, **13**, 6520–6523; f) T. Kitanosono, M. Sakai, M. Ueno and S. Kobayashi, *Org. Biomol. Chem.*, 2012, **10**, 7134–7147.
- 99. <sup>99</sup>B. M. Adger, C. O'Farrell, N. J. Lewis and M. B. Mitchell, *Synthesis*, 1987, 53–55.
- 100. <sup>100</sup> C. Bissantz, T. Hoffmann, P. Jablonski, H. Knust, M. Nettekoven, H. Ratni and X. Wu, US 2008/0275021 and WO 2008/128891.
- <sup>101</sup> G. Meng, Y.-P. He and F.-E. Chen, *Synthetic Commun.*, 2003, **33**, 2593-2598.
- <sup>102</sup> P. Zhou, E. J. Toone, WO 2012/031298.
- 103. <sup>103</sup> J. Mai, Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges., 1902, 35, 162–163.
- 104. <sup>104</sup> N. Kornblum, G. D. Cooper and J. E. Taylor, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1950, 72, 3013– 3021.
- <sup>105</sup> a) H. Zollinger, in *Diazo Chem. I: Aromatic and Heteroaromatic Compounds;* VCH: Weinheim, 1994, pp 222–223; Selected examples: b) M. C. Davis, *Synthetic Commun.*, 2009, **39**, 1100–1108; c) N. K. Anand, C. M. Blazey, O. J. Bowles, J. Bussenius, S. Costanzo, J. K. Curtis, L. Dubenko, A. R. Kennedy, S. C. Defina, A. I. Kim, J.-C. L. Manalo, C. J. Peto, K. D. Rice and T. H. Tsang, WO 2005/112932; d) B. Kenda, L. Turet, Y. Quesnel, P. Michel and A. Ali, WO 2008/132142.
- <sup>106</sup> a) N. Kornblum, Org. Synth., 1955, 3, 295; 1941, 21, 30; b) N. J. Leonard and B. L. Robison, Org. Synth., 1963, 4, 947; 1956, 36, 94.
- <sup>107</sup> H. Mitsuhashi, T. Kawakami and H. Suzuki, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2000, **41**, 5567–5569.
- 108. <sup>108</sup> G. V. Bakulina and B. V. Erofeev, Russ. J. Phys. Chem., 1972, 46, 125–126.
- <sup>109</sup> T. Kawasaki, H. Tanaka, T. Tsutsumi, T. Kasahara, I. Sato and K. Soai, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2006, **128**, 6032–6033.
- <sup>110</sup> a) A. Stroba, F. Schaeffer, V. Hindie, L. Lopez-Garcia, I. Adrian, W. Fröhner, R. W. Hartmann, R. M. Biondi and M. Engel, *J. Med. Chem.*, 2009, **52**, 4683–4693; b) M. Engel, W. Fröhner, A. Stroba and R. M. Biondi, WO 2010/043711.
- <sup>111</sup> A. F. Brigas, A. M. Rosa da Costa, A. C. Serra and C. Pires, *J. Pharm. Bioallied Sci.*, 2011, **3**, 294–297.
- <sup>112</sup> J. H. Babler, US 2009/0270658.
- 113. <sup>113</sup> D. Monti, G. Speranza and P. Manitto, *Gazz. Chim. Ital.*, 1982, **112**, 367–369.
- 114. <sup>114</sup> B. T. Khai and A. Arcelli, Chem. Ber., 1993, **126**, 2265–2268.
- 115. <sup>115</sup> M. C. F. Oliveira, J. Mol. Catal. A-Chem., 2007, 272, 225–232.
- 116. <sup>116</sup> M. C. F. Oliveira, Appl. Catal., A, 2007, **329**, 7–15.
- <sup>117</sup> O. A. Karpeiskaya, A. A. Belyi and M. E. Vol'pin, *Bull. Acad. Sci. USSR, Div. Chem. Sci. (Engl. Transl.)*, 1985, **34**, 1554–1554; Translated from *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim.*, 1985, 1693–1693.
- <sup>118</sup> A. J. Fry, M. Allukian and A. D. Williams, *Tetrahedron*, 2002, **58**, 4411–4415.
- <sup>119</sup> A. Pontiroli, N. Diulgheroff, F. Scarpitta, R. Arosio, A. Pogialli and M. Villa, Patent WO 2008/137050.

- 120. <sup>120</sup> J. M. Klunder, M. A. Hoermann, C. L. Cywin, E. David, J. R. Brickwood, R. Schwartz, K. J. Barringer, D. Pauletti, C.-K. Shih, D. A. Erickson, C. L. Sorge, D. P. Joseph, S. E. Hattox, J. Adams and P. M. Grob, *J. Med. Chem.*, 1998, **41**, 2960–2971.
- 121. <sup>121</sup> R. A. W. Johnstone and A. H. Wilby, *Tetrahedron*, 1981, **37**, 3667–3670.
- 122. <sup>122</sup> M.-J. Brienne, D. Varech, M. Leclerq, J. Jacques, N. Radembino, M.-C. Dessalles, G. Mahuzier, C. Gueyouche, C. Bories, P. Loiseau and P. Gayral, *J. Med. Chem.*, 1987, **30**, 2232–2239.
- 123. <sup>123</sup> T. Chen, J. Xiao, Y. Zhou, S. Yin and L. B. Han, J. Organomet. Chem., 2014, 749, 51–54.
- 124. <sup>124</sup> H. Cao, T. Chen, Y. Zhou, D. Han, S.-F. Yin and L.-B. Han, *Adv. Synth. Cat.*, 2014, **356**, 765–769.
- 125. <sup>125</sup> S. Takai, P. Ploypradith, A. Hamajima, K. Kira and M. Isobe, *Synlett*, 2002, 588–592.
- 126. <sup>126</sup> A. Hamajima and M. Isobe, *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 2009, **48**, 2941–2945.
- <sup>127</sup> N. Iwasawa, K. Inaba, S. Nakayama and M. Aoki, *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 2005, 44, 7447–7450.
- <sup>128</sup> a) Y. M. Y. Haddad, H. B. Henbest, J. Husbands and T. R. B. Mitchell, *Proc. Chem. Soc.*, 1964, 361-361; b) P. A. Browne and D. N. Kirk, *J. Chem. Soc.*, *C* 1969, 1653–1659; c) H. B. Henbest and T. R. B. Mitchell *J. Chem. Soc.* C, 1970, 785–791.
- <sup>129</sup> a) B. T. Khai and A. Arcelli, *J. Org. Chem.*, 1989, **54**, 949–953; b) B. T.Khai and A. Arcelli, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1996, **37**, 6599–6602.
- <sup>130</sup> a) M. Ende and G. Spiteller, *Tetrahedron*, 1973, **29**, 2457–2463; b) A. S. Campos Neves, M. L. S e Melo, M. J. S. M. Moreno, E. J. Tavares da Silva, J. A. R. Salvador, S. P. da Costa and R. M. L. M. Martins, *Tetrahedron*, 1999, **55**, 3255–3264; c) A. Kasal, L. Matyáš and M. Buděšínský, *Tetrahedron*, 2005, **61**, 2269–2278; d) A. Kasal, Z. Krištofíková and M. Buděšínský, *Tetrahedron*, 2007, **63**, 11355–11362; e) B. Slavíková, J. Bujons, L. Matyáš, M. Vidal, Z. Babot, Z. Krištofíková, C. Suñol and A. Kasal, *J. Med. Chem.*, 2013, **56**, 2323–2336 and references cited therein.
- 131. <sup>131</sup> J. C. Orr, M. Mersereau and A. Sanford, J. Chem. Soc. D., 1970, 162–163.
- <sup>132</sup> C. Guyon, E. Métay, N. Duguet and M. Lemaire, *Eur. J. Org. Chem.*, 2013, 5439– 5444.
- 133. <sup>133</sup> I. D. Entwistle, R. A. W. Johnstone and R. P. Telford, *J. Chem. Research (S)*, 1977, 117–117.
- <sup>134</sup> A. F. Brigas, C. S. C. Fonseca, R. A. W. Johnstone, J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem., 2006, 246, 100–108.
- <sup>135</sup> a) D. Redmore, J. Org. Chem., 1978, 43, 992–996; b) H. Loibner, A. Pruckner and A. Stütz, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1984, 25, 2535–2536; c) A. Stütz, W. Granitzer and S. Roth, *Tetrahedron*, 1985, 41, 5685–5696; d) T. Shinmyozu, N. Shibakawa, K. Sugimoto, H. Sakane, H. Takemura, K. Sako and T. Inazu, *Synthesis*, 1993, 1257–1260; e) B. A. Davis and D. A. Durden, *Synth. Commun.*, 2000, 30, 3353–3362.
- 136. <sup>136</sup> K. A. Parker and Q.-J. Ding, *Tetrahedron*, 2000, **56**, 10255–10261.
- <sup>137</sup> L. J. Gooβen and K. Ghosh, *Chem. Comm.*, 2002, 836–837.
- <sup>138</sup> M. D. Adam, M. D. Andrews, G. E. Gymer, D. Hepworth, H. R. Jr. Howard, D. S. Middleton and A. Stobie, WO 2002/083643.
- <sup>139</sup> O. G. Backeberg and B. Staskun, *J. Chem. Soc.*, 1962, 3961–3963.
- <sup>140</sup> a) M. E. Salvati, J. A. Balog, D. A. Pickering, S. Giese, A. Fura, W. Li, R. N. Patel, R. L. Hanson, T. Mitt, J. Roberge, J. R. Corte, S. H. Spergel, R. A. Rampulla, R. Misra and H.-Y. Xiao, WO 2003/062241; b) C. Kuhn, L. Skaltsounis, C. Monneret and J.-C. Florent, *Eur. J. Org. Chem.*, 2003, 2585–2595; c) M. Amat, O. Bassas, M.

Cantó, N. Llor, M. M. M. Santos and J. Bosch, *Tetrahedron*, 2005, **61**, 7693–7702; d) J. Shirai, T. Yoshikawa and H. Sugiyama, WO 2007/089031; e) A. Robinson and V. K. Aggarwal, *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 2010, **49**, 6673–6675; f) K. Zhu and J. S. Panek, *Org. Lett.*, 2011, **13**, 4652–4655; g) L. Alcaraz, A. Bailey and N. Kindon, WO 2011/012896; h) P. H. Cui, T. Rawling, K. Bourget, T. Kim, C. C. Duke, M. R. Doddareddy, D. E. Hibbs, F.; Zhou, B. N.; Tattam, N.; Petrovic and M. Murray, *J. Med. Chem.*, 2012, **55**, 7163–7172.

- <sup>141</sup> a) G. Billek, H. Kindl, A. Schimpl and F. P. Schmook, J. Labelled Compd., 1969, **5**, 3–7; b) J. Rokach, EP Patent 0 138 532, 1985; c) S. P. East and M. M. Joullié, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1998, **39**, 7211-7214; d) S. P. East, F. Shao, L. Williams and M. M. Joullié, *Tetrahedron*, 1998, **54**, 13371–13390; e) H.-H. Chen, J. A. May and B. S. Severns, U.S. Patent 6 696 476, 2004; f) W. A. Jr. Metz and F.-X. Ding, WO 2006/023467; g) A. S. Judd, A. J. Souers, D. Wodka, G. Zhao, M. M. Mulhern, R. R. Iyengar, J. Gao, J. K. Lynch, J. C. Freeman, H. D. Falls, S. Brodjian, B. D. Dayton, R. M. Reilly, G. Gintant, J. T. Limberis, A. Mikhail, S. T. Leitza, K. A. Houseman, G. Diaz, E. N. Bush, R. Shapiro, V. Knourek-Segel, L. E. Hernandez, K. C. Marsh, H. L. Sham, C. A. Collins and P. R. Kym, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 2007, **17**, 2365–2371; h) T. Mcinally, T. Mochel, F. Hasegawa and S. Hori, WO 2012/066336.
- 142. <sup>142</sup> a) F. Troxler, A. Harnisch, G. Bormann, F. Seemann and L. Szabo, Helv. Chim. Acta, 1968, 51, 1616–1628; b) S. Passannanti, M. P. Paternostro, F. Piozzi and G. Savona, J. Heterocyclic Chem., 1977, 14, 103–106; c) F. M. Kaspersen, F. A. M. van Rooij, E. G. M. Sperling and J. H. Wieringa, J. Labelled Compd. Radiopharm., 1989, 27, 1055–1068; d) C. A. Veale, J. R. Jr. Damewood, G. B. Steelman, C. Bryant, B. Gomes and J. Williams, J. Med. Chem., 1995, 38, 86-97; e) R. Mannhold, G. Cruciani, H. Weber, H. Lemoine, A. Derix, C. Weichel and M. Clementi, J. Med. Chem., 1999, 42, 981–991; f) M. M. Cudahy, M. E. Shnute, S. P. Tanis, W. R. Perrault, P. M. Herrinton and S. K. Nair, WO 2003/059911; g) M. Gerspacher and S. Weiler, WO 2005/068433; h) M. Van Eis, P. Von Matt, J. Wagner and J.-P. Evenou. WO 2005/068454 and WO 2005/068455 and WO 2007/006533; i) M. Shimizu, A. Takahashi and S. Kawai, Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 3585-3587; j) J. S. Lazo, R. Nunes, J. J. Skoko, P. E. Queiroz de Oliveira, A. Vogt and P. Wipf, Bioorg. Med. Chem., 2006, 14, 5643–5650; k) Y. Muneaux, S. Jegham, B. Bourrie, P. Casellas, P. Ciapetti, J.-M. Derocq and C.-G. Wermuth, WO 2007/045758; 1) M. Van Eis, P. Von Matt and J. Wagner, WO 2008/074752; m) D. Allen, M. K. Ameriks, F. U. Axe, M. Burdett, H. Cai, I. Choong, J. P. Edwards, W. Lew and S. P. Meduna, WO 2008/100620 and WO 2008/100635; n) W. M. Kazmierski and P. Y. Chong, WO 2009/075960; o) P. B. Sampson, S.-W. Li, Y. Liu, H. W. Pauls, L. G. Edwards, B. T. Forrest, M. Feher, N. K. B. Patel and G. Pan, WO 2010/115279; p) D. Robaa, C. Enzensperger, S. S. El Din Abul Azm, E. S. El Khawass, O. El Sayed and J. Lehmann, J. Med. Chem., 2010, 53, 2646-2650; q) M. Gerspacher, E. Altmann, R. Beerli, T. Buhl, R. Endres, R. Gamse, J. Kameni-Tcheudji, M. Kneissel, K. H. Krawinkler, M. Missbach, A. Schmidt, K. Seuwen, S. Weiler and L. Widler, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 2010, 20, 5161-5164; r) P. B. Sampson, Y. Liu, S.-W. Li, B. T. Forrest, H. W. Pauls, L. G. Edwards, M. Feher, N. K. B. Patel, R. Laufer and G. Pan, WO 2011/123946; s) S. Sipos, I. Jablonkai, O. Egyed and M. Czugler, Carb. Res., 2011, 346, 2862-2871; t) Y.-K. Zhang, J. J. Plattner, E. E. Easom, L. Liu, D. M. Retz, M. Ge and H.-H. Zhou, J. Labelled Compd. Radiopharm., 2012, 55, 201–205.

144. <sup>144</sup> B. Cao, H. Park and M. M. Joullié, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2002, **124**, 520–521.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> A. K. Ghosh and D. K. Moon, Org. Lett., 2007, 9, 2425–2427.

- <sup>145</sup> H. W. Pauls, B. T. Forrest, R. Laufer, M. Feher, P. B. Sampson and G. Pan, WO 2009/079767.
- 146. <sup>146</sup> J. L. Hicks, J. Labelled Compd. Radiopharm., 1995, **36**, 1029–1035.
- 147. <sup>147</sup> R. S. Compagnone and H. Rapoport, *J. Org. Chem.*, 1986, **51**, 1713–1719.
- <sup>148.</sup> <sup>148</sup> a) H. P. Albrecht, D. B. Repke and J. G. Moffatt, *J. Org. Chem.*, 1973, **38**, 1836–1840; b) H. M. Dettinger, G. Kurz and J. Lehmann, *Carbohydr. Res.*, 1979, **74**, 301–307; c) R. T. Clemens and M. P. Jennings, *Chem. Commun.*, 2006, 2720–2721.
- <sup>149</sup> a) M. Tóth and L. Somsák, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2001, **42**, 2723–2725; b) M. Tóth and L. Somsák, *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 1*, 2001, 942–943; c) M. Tóth and L. Somsák, *Carbohydr. Res.*, 2003, **338**, 1319–1325; d) M. Tóth, K. E. Kövér, A. Bényei and L. Somsák, *Org. Biomol. Chem.*, 2003, **1**, 4039–4046; e) M. Tóth, S. Kun, E. Bokor, M. Benltifa, G. Tallec, S. Vidal, T. Dosca, P. Gergely, L. Somsák and J.-P. Praly, *Bioorg. Med. Chem.*, 2009, **17**, 4773–4785.
- <sup>150.</sup> <sup>150</sup> a) T. R. Hoye, M. Chen, B. Hoang, L. Mi and O. P. Priest, *J. Org. Chem.*, 1999, **64**, 7184–7201; b) N. Hauel, A. Ceci, H. Doods, I. Konetzki, J. Mack, H. Priepke, A. Schuler-Metz, R. Walter and D. Wiedenmayer, WO 2010/097372 and US 2010/0240669.
- <sup>151</sup> a) I. D. Entwistle, B. J. Hussey and R. A. W. Johnstone, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1980, 21, 4747–4748; b) B. J. Hussey and R. A. W. Johnstone, *Tetrahedron*, 1982, 38, 3775–3781.
- 152. <sup>152</sup> A. F. Brigas and R. A. W. Johnstone, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1990, **31**, 5789-5790.
- <sup>153</sup> L. M. T. Frija, M. L. S. Cristiano, E. M. O. Guimarães, N. C. Martins, R. M. S. Loureiro and J. F. Bickley, *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.*, 2005, **242**, 241–250.
- <sup>154</sup> R. A. W. Johnstone and P. J. Price, *J. Chem. Soc.*, *Perkin Trans.*, *1* 1987, 1069–1076.
- 155. <sup>155</sup> A. F. Brigas and R. A. W. Johnstone, *Tetrahedron*, 1992, 48, 7735–7746.
- <sup>156</sup> D. V. Davydov and I. P. Beletskaya, *Russ. Chem. Bull.*, 1993, **42**, 573–575; translated from *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim.*, 1993, 605–606.
- 157. <sup>157</sup> Reviews: a) W. Hartwig, *Tetrahedron*, 1983, **39**, 2609–2645; b) M. Ramaiah, *Tetrahedron*, 1987, **43**, 3541–3676.
- <sup>158</sup> D. R. H.; Barton and S. W. McCombie, J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1, 1975, 1574-1585.
- <sup>159</sup> a) L. E. Tavera-Mendoza, T. D. Quach, B. Dabbas, J. Hudon, X. Liao, A. Palijan, J. L. Gleason and J. H. White, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 2008, **105**, 8250–8255; b) J. White, J. Gleason, L. E. Tavera Mendoza and T. Quach, WO 2007/131364.
- <sup>160</sup> A. E. Graham, A. V. Thomas and R. Yang, *J. Org. Chem.*, 2000, **65**, 2583–2585 and U.S. Patent 6 040 440, 2000.
- <sup>161</sup> T. Baba and M. Isobe, *Synlett*, 2003, 547–551.
- 162. <sup>162</sup> D. O. Jang and D. H. Cho, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2002, **43**, 5921–5924.
- 163. <sup>163</sup> L. D. Hicks, J. K. Han and A. J. Fry, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2000, **41**, 7817–7820.
- 164. <sup>164</sup> G. G. Wu, F. X. Chen, D. LaFrance, Z. Liu, S. G. Greene, Y.-S. Wong and J. Xie, Org. Lett., 2011, 13, 5220–5223.
- <sup>165</sup> a) P. E. Gordon and A. J. Fry, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2001, **42**, 831–833; b) P. E. Gordon, A. J. Fry and L. D. Hicks, *Arkivoc*, 2005, **6**, 393–400.
- <sup>166</sup> B. V. Gregorovich and S. F. MacDonald, U.S. Patent 4 070 366, 1978.
- <sup>167</sup> J. E. Milne, T. Storz, J. T. Colyer, O. R. Thiel, M. D. Seran, R. D. Larsen and J. A. Murry, *J. Org. Chem.*, 2011, **76**, 9519–9524.
- <sup>168</sup> a) M. Smet, R. Shukla, L. Fülöp and W Dehaen, *Eur. J. Org. Chem.*, 1998, 2769–2773; b) M. Smet and W. Dehaen, *Molecules*, 2000, 5, 620–628; c) N. Vets, H. Diliën,

S. Toppet and W. Dehaen, Svnlett, 2006, 1359–1362; d) I. Kaur, W. Jia, R. P. Kopreski, S. Selvarasah, M. R. Dokmeci, C. Pramanik, N. E. McGruer and G. P. Miller, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2008, 130, 16274–16286; e) S. Miao, A. L. Appleton, N. Berger, S. Barlow, S. R. Marder, K. I. Hardcastle and U. H. F. Bunz, Chem. Eur. J., 2009, 15, 4990-4993; f) Y.-F. Lim, Y. Shu, S. R. Parkin, J. E. Anthony and G. G. Malliaras, J. Mater. Chem., 2009, 19, 3049–3056; g) H. Zhang, X. Zhang, B. Zhang and W. Yang, Mater. Lett., 2009, 63, 2503-2506; h) K. Kitazawa, T. Kochi, M. Sato and F. Kakiuchi, Org. Lett., 2009, 11, 1951–1954; i) A. L. Appleton, S. Miao, S. M Brombosz, N. J. Berger, S. Barlow, S. R. Marder, B. M. Lawrence, K. I. Hardcastle and U. H. F. Bunz, Org. Lett., 2009, 11, 5222–5225; j) W. J. Jo, K.-H. Kim, H. C. No, D.-Y. Shin, S.-J. Oh, J.-H. Son, Y.-H. Kim, Y.-K. Cho, Q.-H. Zhao, K.-H. Lee, H.-Y. Oh and S.-K. Kwon, Synth. Met., 2009, 159, 1359–1364; k) X. Zhang, X. Jiang, J. Luo, C. Chi, H. Chen and J. Wu, Chem. - Eur. J., 2010, 16, 464-468; l) J. Zhang, Z. Chen, W. Fu, P. Xie, Z. Li, S. Yan and R. Zhang, J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem., 2010, 48, 2491–2497; m) H.-Y. Chen, C.-T. Chen and C.-T. Chen, Macromolecules, 2010, 43, 3613-3623; n) A. Konishi, Y. Hirao, M. Nakano, A. Shimizu, E. Botek, B. Champagne, D. Shiomi, K. Sato, T. Takui, K. Matsumoto, H. Kurata and T. Kubo J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2010, 132, 11021- 11023; o) K. A. Barve, S. S. Raut, A. V. Mishra and V. R. Patil, J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 2011, 122, 3483–3492; p) H. J. Song, J. Y. Lee, I. S. Song, D. K. Moon and J. R. Haw, J. Ind. Eng. Chem., 2011, 17, 352–357; q) H.-M. Shih, C.-J. Lin, S.-R. Tseng, C.-H. Lin and C.-S. Hsu, Macromol. Chem. Phys., 2011, 212, 1100-1108; r) M. A. Reddy, G. Mallesham, A. Thomas, K. Srinivas, V. J. Rao, K. Bhanuprakash, L. Giribabu, R. Grover, A. Kumar, M. N. Kamalasanan and R. Srivastava, Synth. Met., 2011, 161, 869-880; s) J. Sun, H. Lai, H. Zhong and Q. Fang, *Thin Solid Films*, 2011, **519**, 7772–7778; t) K. Goto, R. Yamaguchi, S. Hiroto, H. Ueno, T. Kawai and H. Shinokubo, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 2012, 51, 10333-10336; u) M.-G. Shin, S. O. Kim, H. T. Park, S. J. Park, H. S. Yu, Y.-H. Kim and S.-K. Kwon, Dyes Pigm., 2012, 92, 1075–1082; v) H. Park, J. Lee, I. Kang, H. Y. Chu, J.-I. Lee, S.-K. Kwon and Y.-H. Kim, J. Mater. Chem., 2012, 22, 2695-2700; w) Y.-H. Chen, S.-L. Lin, Y.-C. Chang, Y.-C. Chen, J.-T. Lin, R.-H. Lee, W.-J. Kuo and R.-J. Jeng, Org. Electron., 2012, 13, 43–52; x) Y. Fujiwara, R. Ozawa, D. Onuma, K. Suzuki, K. Yoza and K. Kobayashi, J. Org. Chem., 2013, 78, 2206-2212.

<sup>169</sup> a) H.-Y. Kim, S.-G. Yang, J.-H. Shin, C.-H. Lee and H.-J. Ko, EP 1 925 618, 2007;
b) T. Ushikubo, S. Seo, EP 2 031 036, 2009; c) T. Ushikubo and S. Seo, EP 2 051 310, 2009; d) C. S. Kim, Y. J. Cho, H. J. Kwon, B. O. Kim, S. M. Kim and S. S. Yoon, EP 2 096 108, 2009; e) B. O. Kim, S. M. Kim and S. S. Yoon, EP 2 100 940, 2009; f) S. Y. Lee, Y. J. Cho, H. J. Kwon, B. O. Kim, S. M. Kim and S. S. Yoon, EP 2 103 666, 2009; g) S. Kawakami, N. Ohsawa and S. Seo, EP 2 112 212, 2009; h) J.-S. Bae, D.-H. Lee, D.-W. Lee and J.-G. Jang, WO 2007/011170; i) J.-E. Kim, J.-C. Lee, H.-Y. Jang, T.-Y. Park, S.-K Hong, J.-G. Jang, J.-K. Park, H. Nam, K.-K. Kim and Y.-H. Kim, WO 2008/013399; j) H. N. Shin, C. S. Kim, Y. J. Cho, H. J. Kwon, B. O. Kim, S. M. Kim and S. S. Yoon, WO 2010/064871; l) J. Pillow, M. Humphries and S. King., WO 2012/052704; m) C.-S. Wang, W. Mitchell, M. D'Lavari and S. Tierney, WO 2012/100900; n) C.-S. Wang, W. Mitchell, M. D'Lavari and S. Tierney, WO 2012/123058.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> R. Fosse, Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr., Mem. 1910, 7, 231–235.

- 171. <sup>171</sup> O. A. Karpeiskaya, A. A. Belyi, Z. N. Parnes and M. E. Vol'pin, *Izv. Akad. Nauk* SSSR, Ser. Khim., 1988, 473–474.
- 172. <sup>172</sup> V. Shevchenko and R. Engel, *Heteroat. Chem.*, 1997, **8**, 501–503.
- <sup>173</sup> a) L. Lipinska, J. Jagiello, R. Kozinski, R. Batijewski and E. Najdeker, EP 2 653 445, 2013; b) M. O. Danilov, I. A. Slobodyanyuk, I. A. Rusetskii, G. Y. Kolbasov, *Russ. J. Appl. Chem.*, 2013, **86**, 858–862; c) M. O. Danilov, I. A. Slobodyanyuk, I. A. Rusetskii and G. Y. Kolbasov, *J. Nanostruct. Chem.*, 2013, **3**, 49–55; d) X. Wang, W. Xing, B. Yu, X. Feng, L. Song and Y. Hu, *J. Mater. Chem. C*, 2013, **1**, 690–694.
- 174. <sup>174</sup> V. J. Demopoulos, *Synth. Commun.*, 1989, **19**, 2585–2594.
- 175. <sup>175</sup> a) J. F. P. Andrews, P. M. Jackson and C. J. Moody, *Tetrahedron*, 1993, **49**, 7353– 7372; b) J. R. Clayton, C. G. Diefenbacher, T. A Engler, K. W. Furness, J. R. Henry, S. Malhotra, A. L. Marquant, J. A. Mclean, D. Mendel, T. P. Burkholder, Y. Li and J. K. Reel, WO 2003/076442; c) R. S. Al-awar, K. A. Hecker, J. E. Ray, J. Huang, S. Joseph, T. Li, M. Paal, R. Rathnachalam, C. Shih, P. P. Waid, X. Zhou and G. Zhu, US 2003/0229026; d) R. S. Al-awar, J. E. Ray, K. A. Hecker, J. Huang, P. P. Waid, C. Shih, H. B. Brooks, C. D. Spencer, S. A. Watkins, B. R. Patel, N. B. Stamm, C. A. Ogg, R. M. Schultz, E. L. Considine, M. M. Faul, K. A. Sullivan, S. P. Kolis, J. L. Grutsch and S. Joseph, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 2004, 14, 3217-3220; e) M. M. Faul, T. A. Engler, K. A. Sullivan, J. L. Grutsch, M. T. Clayton, M. J. Martinelli, J. M. Pawlak, M. LeTourneau, D. S. Coffey, S. W. Pedersen, S. P. Kolis, K. Furness, S. Malhotra, R. S. Al-awar and J. E. Ray, J. Org. Chem., 2004, 69, 2967–2975; f) K. Kai, J. Horita, K. Wakasa and H. Miyagawa, *Phytochemistry*, 2007, 68, 1651–1663; g) C.; Villarreal and R. Martínez, Synthesis, 2010, 3346–3352; h) A. Elder, G. Harriman, S. Leit, J. Li, H. Sard, Y. Zhang and D. Wilson, WO 2011/019738; i) E. Altmann, U. Hommel, E. L. J. Lorthiois, J. K. Maibaum, N. Ostermann, J. Quancard, S. A. Randl, O. Simic, A. Vulpetti and O. Rogel, WO 2012/093101; j) N. Fuchi, Y. Iura, H. Kaneko, A. Nitta, K. Suyama, H. Ueda, S. Yamaguchi, K. Nishimura, S. Fujii, Y. Sekiva, M. Yamada and T. Takahashi, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 2012, 22, 4358-4361:
- <sup>176</sup> C. Guyon, M. Baron, M. Lemaire, F. Popowycz and E. Métay, *Tetrahedron*, 2014, **70**, 2088–2095.
- 177. <sup>177</sup> H. M. Meshram, Y. S. S. Ganesh, K. R. Babu, B. Eeshwaraiah and J. S. Yadav, *Indian J. Chem., Sect. B: Org. Chem. Incl. Med. Chem.*, 2005, **44**, 193–195.
- 178. <sup>178</sup> A. Mailhe and A. Murat, Bull. Chem. Soc. Fr., 1910, 7, 952–956.
- 179. <sup>179</sup> E. A. Parfenov and L. D. Smirnov, *Chem. Heter. Comp.*, 1992, **28**, 274–278.
- <sup>180</sup> H. M. Meshram, Y. S. S. Ganesh, K. Chandra Sekhar and J. S. Yadav, *Synlett*, 2000, 993–994.
- <sup>181</sup> I. D. Entwistle, A. E. Jackson, R. A. W. Johnstone and R. P. Telford, J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1, 1977, 443–444.
- 182. <sup>182</sup> M. Li and M. E. Johnson, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1994, **35**, 6255–6258.
- <sup>183</sup> a) S. K. Boyer, G. Fitchett, J. W. F. Wasley and G. Zaunius, *J. Heterocycl. Chem.*, 1984, **21**, 833–836; b) J. W. F. Wasley U.S. Patent 4 596 799, 1986; c) K. Arakawa, M. Inamasu, M. Matsumoto, K. Okumura, K. Yasuda, H. Akatsuka, S. Kawanami, A. Watanabe, K. Homma, Y. Saiga, M. Ozeki and I. Iijima, *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, 1997, **45**, 1984–1993; d) P. M. O'Neill, R. C. Storr and B. K. Park, *Tetrahedron*, 1998, **54**, 4615–4622; e) B. Giesinger and I. Mergelsberg, WO 2001/34587; f) C. A. Broka, W. Kim, K. L. Mc Laren and D. B. Smith, WO 2002/012192 and US 2002/0082276; g) I. Nicolaou and V. J. Demopoulos, *J. Med. Chem.*, 2003, **46**, 417–426; h) A. M. Kauppi, C. D. Andersson, H. A. Norberg, C. Sundin, A. Linusson and M. Elofsson, *Bioorg*.

*Med. Chem.*, 2007, **15**, 6994–7011; i) C. Binda, S. Valente, M. Romanenghi, S. Pilotto, R. Cirilli, A. Karytinos, G. Ciossani, O. A. Botrugno, F. Forneris, M. Tardugno, D. E. Edmondson, S. Minucci, A. Mattevi and A. Mai *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 2010, **132**, 6827–6833; j) Y. Chen, W. Guo, Z. Ye, G. Wang and J. Yuan, *Chem. Commun.*, 2011, **47**, 6266–6268; k) Z. Ye, J. Chen, G. Wang and J. Yuan, *Anal. Chem.*, 2011, **83**, 4163–4169; l) S. Minucci, A. Mai and A. Mattevi, WO 2011/131576; m) P. Roszkowski, J. K. Maurin and Z. Czarnocki, *Synthesis*, 2012, 241–246; n) M. Liu, Z. Ye, G. Wang and J. Yuan, *Talanta*, 2012, **99**, 951–958.

- 184. <sup>184</sup> a) P. Battistoni, P. Bruni and G. Fava, *Synthesis*, 1979, 220–221; b) I. D. Entwistle, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1979, 6, 555–558.
- 185. <sup>185</sup> M. Baron, E. Métay, M. Lemaire and F. Popowycz, *Green Chem.*, 2013, **15**, 1006–1015.
- <sup>186</sup> I. D. Entwistle, T. Gilkerson, R. A. W. Johnstone and R. P. Telford, *Tetrahedron*, 1978, **34**, 213–215.
- <sup>187</sup> J. L. Castrejon, S. N. Lavergne, A. El-Sheikh, J. Farrell, J. L. Maggs, S. Sabbani, P. M. O'Neill, B. K. Park and D. J. Naisbitt, *Chem. Res. Toxicol.*, 2010, 23, 184–192.
- <sup>188</sup> a) G. Cristalli, S. Vittori, A. Eleuteri, M. Grifantini, R. Volpini, G. Lupidi, L. Capolongo and E. Pesenti, *J. Med. Chem.*, 1991, **34**, 2226–2230; b) D. J. Naisbitt, P. M. O'Neill, M. Pirmohamed and B. K. Park, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 1996, **6**, 1511–1516; c) M. H. Davey, V. Y. Lee, R. D. Miller and T. J. Marks, *J. Org. Chem.*, 1999, **64**, 4976–4979; d) M. Belley, E. Sauer, D. Beaudoin, P. Duspara, L. A. Trimble, P. Dubé, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2006, **47**, 159–162; e) H. Yoneyama, A. Shimoda, L. Araki, K. Hatano, Y. Sakamoto, T. Kurihara, A. Yamatodani and S. Harusawa, *J. Org. Chem.*, 2008, **73**, 2096–2104.
- <sup>189</sup> C. Granchi, S. Roy, C. Del Fiandra, T. Tuccinardi, M. Lanza, L. Betti, G. Giannaccini, A. Lucacchini, A. Martinelli, M. Macchia and F. Minutolo, *Med. Chem. Commun.*, 2011, 2, 638–643.
- <sup>190</sup> a) C. Granchi, S. Roy, A. De Simone, I. Salvetti, T. Tuccinardi, A. Martinelli, M. Macchia, M. Lanza, L. Betti, G. Giannaccini, A. Lucacchini, E. Giovannetti, R.; Sciarrillo, G. J. Peters, F. Minutolo, *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 2011, **46**, 5398–5407; b) C. Granchi, S. Roy, C. Giacomelli, M. Macchia, T. Tuccinardi, A. Martinelli, M. Lanza, L. Betti, G. Giannaccini, A. Lucacchini, N. Funel, L. G. León, E. Giovannetti, G. J. Peters, R. Palchaudhuri, E. C. Calvaresi, P. J. Hergenrother, F. Minutolo, *J. Med. Chem.* 2011, **54**, 1599–1612; c) F. Minutolo, M. Macchia, C. Granchi, S. Roy, G. Giannaccini, A. Lucacchini, WO 2011/054525.
- <sup>191</sup> A. Zoran, O. Khodzhaev and Y. Sasson, *J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun.*, 1994, 2239–2240.
- 192. <sup>192</sup> R. S. Varma, M. Varma and G. W. Kabalka, *Synth. Commun.*, 1986, 16, 91–96.
- <sup>193</sup>. <sup>193</sup> D. D. Davey and W. C. Lumma, Jr. J. Org. Chem., 1989, **54**, 3211–3213.
- <sup>194</sup> a) D. Monti, P. Gramatica, G. Speranza and P. Manitto, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1983, **24**, 417–418; b) D. Monti, P. Gramatica, G. Speranza, S. Tagliapietra and P. Manitto, *Synth. Commun.*, 1986, **16**, 803–807; c) R. Ballini, G. Bartoli, *Synthesis* 1993, 965–967; d) R. Ballini, M. V. Gil, D. Fiorini and A. Palmieri, *Synthesis*, 2003, 665–667; e)
  B. Nguyen, K. Chernous, D. Endlar, B. Odell, M. Piacenti, J. M. Brown, A. S. Dorofeev and A. V. Burasov, *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 2007, **46**, 7655–7658.
- <sup>195.</sup> <sup>195</sup> a) F. A. Luzzio, *Tetrahedron*, 2001, **57**, 915–945; b) R. Ballini and M. Petrini, *Tetrahedron*, 2004, **60**, 1017–1047; c) R. Ballini, G. Bosica, D. Fiorini and A. Palmieri, *Tetrahedron*, 2005, **61**, 8971–8993.
- <sup>196</sup> B. Staskun and T. van Es, *J. Chem. Soc. C*, 1966, 531–532.

<sup>197</sup> a) R. Balicki and L. Kaczmarek, *Gazz. Chim. Ital.*, 1994, **124**, 385–386; b) G. C. Hirst, P. Rafferty, K. Ritter, D. Calderwood, N. Wishart, L. D. Arnold and M. M. Friedman, WO 2002/076986 and US 2004/0006083; c) H. Kang, A. Facchetti, C. L. Stern, A. L. Rheingold, W. S. Kassel and T. J. Marks, *Org. Lett.*, 2005, **7**, 3721–3724; d) K. S. Chichak, A. J. Peters, S. J. Cantrill and J. F. Stoddart, *J. Org. Chem.*, 2005, **70**, 7956–7962; e) C. D. Pentecost, A. J. Peters, K. S. Chichak, G. W. V. Cave, S. J. Cantrill and J. F. Stoddart, *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 2006, **45**, 4099–4104; f) H. Kang, A. Facchetti, H. Jiang, E. Cariati, S. Righetto, R. Ugo, C. Zuccaccia, A. Macchioni, C. L. Stern, Z. Liu, S.-T. Ho, E. C. Brown, M. A. Ratner and T. J. Marks, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 2007, **129**, 3267–3286.